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Monday, April 14, 2008

--- On commencing at 9:04 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


 Good morning, everyone.


The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today and possibly tomorrow to hear the evidence and argument related to an application filed on November 2nd, 2007 by the Ontario Power Authority regarding its proposed 2008 expenditures, revenue requirement and fees.


The Board is reviewing the application pursuant to subsection 25.21(1) of the Electricity Act, 1998.  The Board has assigned file number EB-2007-0791 to this proceeding.


To date the following events have taken place with respect to this file.


On December 20th, 2007, the Board issued an interim fees order effective January 1st, 2008.  On February 11th, 2008 the Board issued a decision on the issues.  The settlement conference was subsequently convened, but no settlement was reached.


On March 28th, 2008 the Board heard a motion by Pollution Probe seeking responses to its interrogatories from the OPA regarding local area supply initiatives in two regions.  The Board issued an oral decision rejecting the motion.


On April 1st, 2008 the Board received a letter from Pollution Probe stating, as a result of the motions decision, Pollution Probe takes no position with respect to the outstanding issues for this matter.


The OPA has informed the Board that it plans to have one witness panel address a limited number of issues as agreed to by intervenors.


May I have appearances, please?  Mr. Cass.

Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for the Ontario Power Authority.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition, Pembina Institute and OSEA.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe Research Foundation, and with me today is Kimble Ainslie.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. BARR:  David Barr with Ontario Power Generation.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Barr.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Ms. Zora Crnojacki and Mr. Josh Wasylyk.

Preliminary matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Before we begin, I would like to have a discussion regarding our schedule today.


We have two days set aside for this hearing, and it is very much our wish that we deal within those two days with oral argument, as well as hear from the witness panel.


So I would like to hear your opinion on whether or not you think that we could accomplish both of those today.  If you would prefer to have oral argument tomorrow, my expectation is that we can certainly complete the witness panel today.  Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  Well, I am flexible, Madam Chair.  Obviously preferable if we don't have to be here tomorrow.


I guess we could see how fast the cross-examination goes.  I would need a brief break just to gather my thoughts for oral argument.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I would be prepared to present oral argument at whatever time suits the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am perhaps not as confident in my ability to clear my thoughts on oral argument.  I don't think we need to come back tomorrow for me to do oral argument alone.  If I might do a short written argument very quickly, in the week?


MS. NOWINA:  Very quickly being by when, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just need a couple of days.  You may be aware that we're also involved in a tax proceeding which is having oral argument tomorrow, so my head is taxed, unfortunately.


Thursday?  It's not -- it's only on, I think, one or two issues.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro, we will think about it and after break we will get back to you.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, if the Board chooses to go the written route and have an expedited written argument, as Mr. Buonaguro suggests, I could certainly accommodate that, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  The issue with that is the turnaround, then, for reply argument.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, we would prefer a written argument and Thursday is fine for us.


MS. NOWINA:  If we had written argument completed by Thursday, Mr. Cass, what would that mean for you?


MR. CASS:  I am thinking perhaps Monday for reply argument, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thanks.  We will take it under consideration.


Are there any other preliminary matters?


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I don't know when we will get to this, but I don't have an opening statement, as such.


I did have some comments really to address to the scope of the hearing, when it is suitable for the Board to hear that.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we start with that, Mr. Cass, and then you can introduce your panel?


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  I think the Board is aware that the OPA sent out a letter on April 9th with respect to the expected scope of the hearing.


As indicated in the letter, it is the OPA's understanding that intervenors will pursue issues 1.2(b), 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, and 6.2.


It is our understanding that primarily intervenors have questions in the conservation area.  That's the issues 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3.


We understand, for example, that VECC's questions will be in that area, and Energy Probe, as well.


I believe that GEC has some questions that extend into issues 1.2(b) and 6.2.


The second point I wanted to bring out to the Board is that I think there were some questions around the -- any restarting of an initiative to do trading of environmental attributes.  I believe it has been agreed that that can be dealt with simply in argument, that there will be no need for any questions or evidence on that.  


So that was two areas with respect to the scope.


The third area that I wanted to touch on with respect to scope relates to the initiative to look into what's now called customer entitlement agents.  The Board will recall that this is what was formerly referred to as load serving entities.  


Again, there were some questions about that, about any initiative in that area.  I think the questions have gone away on the basis that it's understood that the OEB's jurisdiction remains, notwithstanding the pursuit of any such initiative, and that the OEB remains -- that rates continue to require Board review and approval, and the OEB continues to be free to engage any process it wishes for its regulatory oversight.


On the basis of that understanding, I think that the issues with respect to customer entitlement agents do not need to be pursued in the hearing.  That's point number 3.


Then just one small point.  I have heard -- I understand that Board Staff has some questions, and I think that they also will fall into the conservation area that I have already referred to.  


That's my understanding of the scope of what we have to deal with in the course of the hearing.  In order to address that, as the Board will see, the OPA has called a witness panel with two members.  One is Mr. Chuck Farmer.  He's from the Conservation and Sector Development Group.  He is the director of portfolio development and planning.


The second witness is Vipin Prasad.  He's from the power system planning group and he is the director of conservation integration.


Those are the only witnesses that the OPA believes to be needed to address the issues that I have described.  


This, then, brings me to the last point that I wanted to touch on by way of a preliminary matter, and that has to do with adopting the written evidence.


These two witnesses can adopt the evidence for strategic objective number 1 and strategic objective number 2.


I don't know how the Board and the parties feel about the adopting of other evidence.  Given that it's apparently not contentious, perhaps it is not necessary that anything be done at all to adopt the other evidence.  If something is thought to be necessary, then I think we could just undertake to file an affidavit adopting the other areas of evidence beyond what these witnesses are able to adopt.

Those were the preliminary matters that I wished to speak to.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

First I would like other parties to let me know what they think of Mr. Cass' characterization of the scope of the cross-examination today.

Mr. Poch. 

MR. POCH:  Yes.  We have had conversations over the last week or two and Mr. Cass has set it out right.  

I was perhaps remiss, and I will be asking my friend if he can just put on the record one figure pertaining to objective 4, that is the budget associated with the environmental attribute trading.  I believe that is a figure available to them, and I realize I don't have that on the record.  Otherwise -- I may be mistaken, I'm sure.

MS. NOWINA:  Can we take that as an undertaking, Mr. Cass?  Can we take it as --

MR. CASS:  I am just pausing to be sure that we can give the number accurately at the moment.

MS. NOWINA:  I will let you stop and think about that for a moment, Mr. Cass and we will find out if everyone agrees with the characterization right now.

Mr. Buonaguro.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  In terms of asking questions in cross-examination, I think I might have some questions which asks for some numbers, which I don't know.  They might be outside their area, but they're numbers -- they're right out of their application.  I have the cite, so it may be just a matter of putting the numbers on the record in the context of the other questions I am asking, so it won't be a big problem -- 

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we wait until we get there and see if we require an undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else? Mr. Macintosh.

MR. MACINTOSH:  We would say Mr. Cass gave a fair description of the scope of the hearing.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Mr. Barr, any concerns?  

MR. BARR:  I'm satisfied with the scope.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing to add.

MS. NOWINA:  You are all right with it?

Can we get back to Mr. Poch's question then, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Yes, perhaps at the next break we will provide the number.  We think we know it but we should be sure it is right, so if the Board doesn't mind and Mr. Poch doesn't mind, perhaps we will provide it at the next break.

MS. NOWINA:  The second matter about the adoption of evidence.  Comments on that?  

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I don't think anything turns on it, frankly.  I think the reality is the only thing you are going to hear argument on is the matters where the evidence has been adopted and this other matter of the environmental attribute trading, which is not really a matter of where there is any factual dispute.  It is a policy question.

So I think whatever the Board's needs are, I am content that the evidence can just lie as it is, since the Board's not going to have to get into a weighting with respect to it.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

Anyone else?

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I advertently or inadvertently question the accuracy of evidence that they're not qualified to give, or which is in their evidence, I think we can deal with it later.  It's not a problem.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That's fine.

Any other comments?

Fine.  Mr. Cass, you have already introduced your panel, so we will have them sworn.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1



Vipin Prasad, Affirmed


Chuck Farmer, Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  Examination-in-chief, Mr. Cass.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

My questions will be to simply have the witnesses adopt the evidence as discussed, so I will try to do that as quickly as possible.

Mr. Prasad, starting with you, if you don't mind.  Can you confirm that you are indeed the director of conservation integration in the power system planning group, as I indicated earlier.


MR. PRASAD:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And was the evidence with respect to strategic objective number 1 prepared either by you or under your direction and control, including answers to interrogatories?

MR. PRASAD:  It was completed under my direction.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. PRASAD:  To the best of my knowledge, it is accurate.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Mr. Farmer, you are the director of portfolio development and planning for the conservation and sector development group?

MR. FARMER:  I am.

MR. CASS:  Again, was the evidence for strategic objective number 2, including answers to interrogatories, prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MR. FARMER:  It was.

MR. CASS:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. FARMER:  It is.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Do the other parties have any desired order of cross-examination?

MR. POCH:  I think it is agreed by my friends that I should go first, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Poch, go ahead.
Cross-examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, before you and before the panel, I placed a small bundle of added materials that I would like to refer to in my cross-examination.  These are all OPA source materials, with the exception of one graphic which contrasts the OPA's avoided costs and the Board's, but I will allow the witness to comment on in due course.

I am wondering if it might be convenient to have an exhibit number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have it, Madam Chair?

MS. NOWINA:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that K1.1 and that is GEC's examination material.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  GEC EXAMINATION MATERIAL


MR. POCH:  Gentlemen, I would like to start briefly touching on the matter of local area supply.  Now, the Board has already ruled that it doesn't want to get into specifics of the programs in places like northern York Region and Kingston, Waterloo, Cambridge and Guelph, but it is charged with assessing the appropriateness of the budget, so I will try to keep this to the big picture. 

Let me just make sure we are on the same page to begin with, a little history.  My understanding is, you were requested to study the York Region, the problem of supply there or anticipated problem of supply, in a March 2005 letter from the Ministry.  That -- you don't need to turn it up -- but I understand it appears as Exhibit A82 at page 47 of this case, and it was -- and that you filed a report in that regard with this Board.  That report had been included in the Pollution Probe motion materials, the 28th.  


Here is what I want to make sure we agree with: that the Board, that is the Ontario Energy Board, considered that matter in the context of a written hearing on transmission considerations in that region, and that was the EB-2005-0315 case.  Is that your understanding?

MR. PRASAD:  I was personally not involved in that preparation of that report, so I cannot comment on that.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let me ask you to turn up page 2 of the materials I have distributed.  This is an excerpt from the decision of Chairman Wetston, who wrote the Board's decision in that case.  I think from the context, it will be clear that he was referring to matters put before him in part by the OPA.

I would like to refer you to the bottom of page 2 of my materials, which is the bottom of page 9 of that decision, and continuing overleaf.  I will read it in, the section I am referring to.  
"In this case, the OPA has received a directive from the government.  On June 15th, 2005, the Minister directed the OPA to contract for '250 megawatts or more of demand-side management and/or demand response and influence across the province.'  In this regard, the OPA's evidence states that in accordance with this directive it is 'pursuing a target of 20 megawatts of demand response in addition to the aggressive pursuit of as much CDM as is economic.'"

It is really that last phrase that I wanted to ask you about.  Is it your understanding that the Chairman got that right?  Specifically, that you are going to pursue, aggressively pursue as much CDM as is economic?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Now, we asked you, in our interrogatory which appears as Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 2.  Madam Chair, I haven't included the interrogatories in the bundle there.  I figured with one binder in front of you, we could probably manage to avoid a little duplicated paper.


We asked you there about your -- the programs and the budget allocated for various programs to address local supply constraints in these targeted areas, such as northern York Region.


The initial response indicated that you didn't have that information, and the Panel, in its decision on March 28th, the motion by Pollution Probe, indicated they felt it might be helpful to have some information, and you have gone back and updated that interrogatory as a response; is that correct?


MR. PRASAD:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, in reviewing your updated answer, I don't see an answer to the very first thing we asked there which is:  What are the programs?


Let me ask at a very general level, then:  What efficiency programs have you designed and delivered in regions, such as northern York Region, apart from the province-wide programs, which would obviously apply there, as well?


MR. FARMER:  The northern York Region has a specific program, which is a demand response initiative under contract, and there have been some increases in the amount of demand response under contract under that agreement.


At this time, we have not specifically targeted any energy efficiency programs into any of the constrained areas.  We are running the full suite of programs, with the exception of the ones targeted at Toronto, for that very specific constrained area, and we are assessing how they are succeeding in meeting the objectives for those markets.


We have recently introduced a custom program which is run through local distribution companies, and we are assessing currently the applications that we have received, with an emphasis on the local system constrained areas.


MR. POCH:  So when you say you have a custom program, that is a province-wide custom program that would be available in those areas, as well?


MR. FARMER:  The custom program is an opportunity for a local distribution company to propose its own program suite.  So it has a province-wide set of criteria, and the idea being that the LDC has significant flexibility on what to deliver, to whom.


MR. POCH:  All right.  You said you have instituted -- planned and instituted no specific energy efficiency programs in those constrained regions.  Just to be sure I've captured it, have you instituted any fuel-switching programs specifically for those regions?


MR. FARMER:  First, I should correct your reference.  You said we had not planned to do anything in those areas.  We are currently assessing the success of the existing programs in those areas.


Fuel switching has been an eligible measure under initiatives offered in the Toronto market, and we are currently working through a program design that will offer it to the rest of the province, yes.


MR. POCH:  So as of yet, you haven't, but you are hoping to offer at some point a fuel-switching program to, did you say, the rest of the province?


MR. FARMER:  With the exception of initiatives in Toronto, where fuel switching has been an eligible measure under one of our contractual arrangements, we have recently received Board approval for a fuel-switching program to be offered on a province-wide basis.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I will come back to that province-wide.  So you don't have a specific program that you have been running in these constrained regions for fuel switching, apart from the Toronto market?


MR. FARMER:  No, no, we don't.


MR. POCH:  All right.


Is there some reason that you didn't pursue targeted 

-- OPA-initiated targeted programs in these constrained areas?


MR. FARMER:  The -- we have to stress that in York Region we started with an OPA-targeted program --


MR. POCH:  Other than the DR, excuse me, yes.


MR. FARMER:  -- and in Toronto, which is also a constrained area.  For all of the others, we are currently assessing the success of our programs to determine whether there is a need for additional effort or an altered effort on the existing programs to generate different results.


MR. POCH:  So I am not sure I got an answer to my question.  Was there some reason you didn't do -- other than the DR program in -- let's take northern York Region as an example.  Is there some reason you didn't initiate specific targeted energy efficiency fuel-switching programs in that region, given that we now know, of course, that that was one of the top areas that you are going to need to do generation otherwise?


MR. FARMER:  The reason is that we believe that the currently designed provincial programs will deliver the objectives within those markets.


MR. POCH:  Now, in the quote I read you from Chairman Wetston's decision, he, in turn, is quoting OPA as referring to  pursuing all economic DSM aggressively.


Let's just be clear with our language here.  By "economic", you would equate that with cost-effective?


MR. FARMER:  I do.


MR. POCH:  All right.  You would determine cost-effectiveness by comparing any particular program or measure with your avoided costs; is that correct?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  I want to touch on how you're 

-- where you are going with your avoided costs.  I won't get into details, numbers or anything, but just what you are doing in that regard in 2008.


In answer to IR Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 5 - that's the interrogatory we posed - you indicated that you no longer are utilizing the OEB's approved avoided costs, which I believe were developed for the Board by Navigant.  You are instead using avoided costs you have developed based on the IPSP; is that correct?


MR. FARMER:  For the purpose of program design, that's correct.


MR. POCH:  Is that true of the programs that you would manage or fund under the LDC directive, I will call it?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, the OEB recently reissued its CDM guidelines, which include an appendix which includes their avoided costs, for LDCs to use when LDCs initiate a program.


Can you just -- well, I guess I am concerned that there is going to be some confusion there if we have LDCs delivering programs under two sets of avoided costs.  Have you addressed that issue?


MR. FARMER:  We have not.  We have chosen to adopt the avoided costs that are filed with the IPSP.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, both yours and the OEB's numbers - correct me if I am wrong - are generic, province-wide values?


MR. PRASAD:  I can speak for the IPSP number, and that is a province wide.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So they're not sufficiently detailed to address avoided costs for -- specific added avoided costs for these transmission-constrained zones.  There would be additional savings there?


MR. PRASAD:  The provincial costs account for everything that is included in there.  So this is a supply-avoided costs.  So there is no specific -- it will not make a change.


MR. POCH:  I'm sorry.  Let me ask that again.  I am not sure I have your answer.


First of all, you would agree that in a transmission-constrained zone there may be additional costs to be avoided, apart from those that --


MR. PRASAD:  The avoided costs that is included in the IPSP, it's the supply-avoided costs, and their transmission was taken from there, from the generic number that is used in the OEB.


MR. POCH:  So you would agree that in evaluating a demand-side response for a transmission-constrained area, one would want to take account of the additional savings beyond the province-wide generic average savings on the transmission front; correct?


MR. PRASAD:  I believe so.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And is my understanding correct, as well, that the avoided costs don't generate numbers that are narrow enough and targeted enough for you to design your demand response programs around -- like, in places like northern York Region?  


For example, Mr. Gibbons last year obtained an undertaking from you in this hearing to produce an estimate of some figures for the costs of meeting the peak and the peak 88 hours of some narrow percentage of the year.


Those kinds of numbers aren't available in these province-wide avoided cost tables; correct?


MR. PRASAD:  Sorry, I didn't quite understand the question that you --


MR. POCH:  If you are designing a demand response program that's aimed at the needle peak, if you will, in a place like northern York Region, your generic avoided cost numbers don't give you all of the information you would need to do that.  You may be looking at a narrower peak period?


MR. PRASAD:  Well, there is -- I think you recall we had responded to Clean Air Alliance when they requested the 88-hour analysis that was done at the last rate -- fee application.

MR. POCH:  I believe it was Pollution Probe, but, yes, I recall the response.  Yes.

MR. PRASAD:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  And that is what I am asking, that the reason they asked for those and the reason you had to generate them specially is that they're not part of your ordinary avoided costs tables?

MR. PRASAD:  The avoided ordinary cost table that we have included, includes the simple cycle gas turbine as the marginal unit, which is really the one that sets the top hours.

MR. POCH:  Let me ask Mr. Farmer.  If you are designing a targeted narrow demand response program, do you have the information you need from those tables?  Or do you need -- are there additional commodity savings when you are addressing the narrow peak?

MR. FARMER:  The issue partly is I am not actually an expert in avoided costs, but what I would stress is that the procurement for demand response was done under directive and done on a competitive procurement.  To what extent avoided costs actually played into the northern York Region procurement, I am not entirely sure.  There was a need to get an amount of demand response.

What must be stressed is that in northern York Region, the provincial demand response programs are also available, and they have been designed in a way that would be much more aligned with the avoided capacity that they affect.

So those programs are the residential Peak Saver program, the demand response 1, 2, and 3 programs.

MR. POCH:  I guess that is really what I am asking, or I will back up to the general, if you will.  I am really saying have you studied and published the added avoided costs including avoided peak, distribution and transmission losses, and generation costs that are applicable, in particular constrained zones such as northern York Region or Kitchener-Waterloo?

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Sorry to interrupt.

I am sure that Mr. Poch eventually will link these questions to something that relates to the 2008 revenue requirement or the 2008 fees.

I am finding for myself that I don't see that link, and although this may be an interesting discussion of avoided costs, I wonder if it would be possible to have questions that focus perhaps a little more on what's really at issue in this case.

MR. POCH:  I am almost at the end of this little line of questions.  If my friend will bear with me, I think I am really getting to the question of whether this work is getting done and is budgeted to be done.

So if I could just get an answer to that last question, unless --

MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.

Have you studied and published avoided costs for these, for the matters I spoke of for these particular regions?

MR. PRASAD:  The answer is no.

MR. POCH:  Have you, indeed?  Have you even studied and published avoided costs due to distribution losses at peak times in the province as a whole?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PRASAD:  As you will recall, I mean we have not done any work on the distribution losses.  The losses that we used in our responses to previous IRs, as well as in this one, is reliant on the OEB information.

MR. POCH:  So in other words, you are using average distribution losses as opposed to distribution losses at peak times?

MR. PRASAD:  Well, what's contained in the OEB information is what we used.

MR. POCH:  I guess, let me ask you this.  The OPA is quoted and you, Mr. Farmer, today agreed that Mr. Wetston, Chairman Wetston had it right when you said you were going to do -- aggressively pursue all cost-effective DSM.  And that was in the context of a transmission concern for a constrained region.

How can you satisfy this Board that you are doing that job if you don't have the studies and programs designed -- first of all, these studies designed to determine what is the limit of cost-effectiveness in those regions?  And do you plan to do that work in 2008?

MR. FARMER:  I think the best answer I can give to the question is that, in general, whether it is in a local reliability area or in the province as a whole, we're still developing our understanding of what the most cost-effective conservation is, and in working under the directives we have received from the government, we have stretched the bounds of conservation delivery extensively, and we are taking it up to 26 programs, which is a very, very fulsome suite.  We have custom offerings that LDCs can design in local areas and we'll be exploring whether there are additional offerings.

In our approach of learning by doing, we will also be learning what is the, really, definition of cost-effective conservation in not only local supply areas but in the province as a whole.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let me move away from local area supply costs and just touch on one other aspect of the work you are doing on avoided costs.

Nothing turns on the precise numbers, but at page 10 of our materials, we just put four measure profiles in, generic, if you will, just to show the different seasonality, through the avoided costs tables of the OEB versus the OPA that we have heard of this morning.  Is our illustrative -- illustration there indicative, in your view, of what the reality is, that is that the OPA's avoided costs numbers now are significantly lower than the OEB's?

MR. PRASAD:  I think you presented this information subject to check.  We can confirm it for you if the numbers are different.

We see as you have illustrated there, they're showing differences, but we are not too sure what the basis of each number is.  We know our numbers but we have no idea of how the OEB numbers were constructed at this point in time.  But we can check and --

MR. POCH:  We didn't go into -- nothing turns on how the OEB's numbers were constructed.  We simply took the profile that is listed there in each table and put it through those and got those results.

MR. PRASAD:  It is important to know how they are constructed because there may be some differences that we are not too sure, and we may be comparing apples to oranges here.  And that is why I wanted to make it subject to check.

MR. POCH:  All right.  When we -- I take it -- I provided you this last week.  I gather there hasn't been an opportunity to do that yet; is that the case?

MR. PRASAD:  Well, we did not do that as yet, but we can do that again and give it back to you --

MR. POCH:  Can we proceed on the assumption that at least directionally, this is the case, that the IPSP avoided costs are lower than the OEB's?

MR. PRASAD:  I don't think I can agree with you unless I check the information.

MS. NOWINA:  Sounds like an undertaking.  Do you want to take an undertaking on that, Mr. Prasad?

MR. PRASAD:  Yes, we can do it.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.1.  Mr. Poch, would you care to describe the undertaking, just so the court --

MR. POCH:  OPA to confirm that for the generic profiles provided at page 10 of Exhibit K1.1, the OPA avoided costs are lower than the OEB avoided costs.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  OPA TO CONFIRM THAT FOR GENERIC PROFILES PROVIDED AT PAGE 10 OF EXHIBIT K1.1 THE OPA AVOIDED COSTS ARE LOWER THAN THE OEB AVOIDED COSTS


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  It's that simple, is it, Mr. Poch?  The directional results that you require?

MR. POCH:  Yes.  And perhaps just -- I should perhaps just indicate, our analysis indicates that they are between 14 and 24 percent lower for the generic profiles we put through.  It obviously depends on what measure you assume.

So all I am asking is just to confirm that it is on that order of magnitude, that scale.

MR. PRASAD:  I think we will undertake to check it out and get back to you as soon as possible.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Now, just to understand where this has effect, can we agree there is a couple of potential impacts to your programs in 2008 if -- with -- that flow from your choice of avoid costs?


First, your pre-screening prescriptive measure programs, a measure could just simply fail outright to screen, or you might have to limit a measure or a programs application to a subsector, for example, where there is a higher duty cycle or lower installation costs for a particular measure or program to work if you have lower avoided costs?


MR. FARMER:  I agree that that is absolutely -- actually probable.  It's possible.


We run our programs directionally on a notion of managing to a portfolio of a TRC of 1.  So we don't only support measures, whether being prescriptive or custom, that are greater than one.  We run a portfolio, and you must accept that we have directives that require us to get to results, and, if that is not possible with a TRC greater than one, then we would have to execute programs that were broader in nature.


MR. POCH:  Well, I will come back to that, to the directives.  But just to close off that point, even the second half that have is in a custom program, where you don't -- a measure wouldn't necessarily pass or fail at the screening stage, the generic screening stage, a lower avoided cost might mean that it would be -- it would pass muster in fewer situations; that is, again, in a custom situation where the duty cycle is high enough, where the -- and so on.  Is that correct?


MR. FARMER:  I agree.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So lower avoided costs can result in fewer CDM measures installed both in prescriptive and custom programs, either in the program design phase or at the program delivery stage.


MR. FARMER:  I believe the word to stress is "could".  To this point, I am not aware of any situation where it has.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, the avoided costs, you do avoided costs for capacity avoidance and for energy avoidance.


Can we agree that the energy avoidance can be a significant share of the savings to be had?  It varies by measure?


MR. FARMER:  It does vary by measure, typically based on the capacity factor of the technology, but there are significant engine savings associated, yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  In the case of the IPSP, the energy costs are -- you are proposing to build a large number of -- make a large investment in base load generation, nuclear generation.  And that would be the basis -- the avoided costs are based on the assumptions about what you are going to do on the supply side?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. FARMER:  I would ask you to restate the question.  I wasn't quite sure...


MR. POCH:  I guess I was just simply saying that particularly for the energy side of your avoided costs, the assumptions are coming from, you know, what you're going to build for base load on the supply side?  I don't want to get into a debate about that, but...


MR. PRASAD:  I think if you are referring to the avoided costs in the IPSP, if you were to look at, you know, the table that was included there, the table shows energy costs based on the season, as well as the time of day.  So it just does not depend on any one single supply.


MR. POCH:  I guess really I was trying to deal with this in a much more simplistic level.


Let me jump to the bottom line here.  Can we agree that the assumptions you are making about supply that underlie your IPSP avoided costs are not without controversy?  Things like, in particular, for the large part of your supply program, the nuclear program, you've got assumptions about you know 4 percent cost of capital and how these plants are going to perform.


I'm not asking you to accept my view on these things.  I am just -- can we agree these are matters of considerable debate that this Board will hear about in the context of the IPSP?


MR. PRASAD:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So I am wondering why you would have chosen to depart from the numbers that the OEB had blessed and are using these lower - let's assume they are lower, assuming the undertaking response is as I predict - avoided costs in the interim?


MR. PRASAD:  Well, that's the best information we have available at this point in time, and it's the latest information that we have and we are relying on the latest one.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, if this Board -- if this Panel wanted you to use avoided costs, to stick with the OEB avoided costs in the interim until the Board has had an opportunity to review the IPSP plan, and wanted you to have regard to added avoided costs that might arise in these transmission-constrained areas, and wanted you to have regard to the losses at peak times in, for example, distribution losses, which we have indicated you don't as of yet calculate, do you have the staff and the budget that you could do that in 2008?


MR. FARMER:  I lost the link between the beginning of the question and the end of the question.


MR. POCH:  I am really asking about your resources, human and financial, if -- to implement, what we might ask the Board to suggest to you, and that is that you screen your programs until -- while awaiting the Board's views of the IPSP, based on the pre-existing avoided costs that the OEB has reviewed and blessed, and, in addition, do the analysis necessary so that you would have avoided cost information for added transmission costs in constrained regions and for peak distribution losses, both in constrained and province wide, and -- I think that was my list.


Would that be a burden that would be manageable with your existing budget?


MR. FARMER:  Well, certainly from a program perspective, we are staffed to run 26 programs and provide the support to those programs in the areas of fulfilment and screening, design, delivery that is required, and we also are able to shift resources, if necessary, into local reliability areas.


So from a program perspective, we have staff that would be able to accommodate, primarily because shifting to a different set of avoided costs would not alter the number of programs that we're bringing to market.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I will take that as a "yes", you can manage it if so directed?


MR. FARMER:  That was a "yes".


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Looking at the adequacy of your CDM budget more generally, first of all, you have some restrictions on what the directives allow you to put into charges.  You have to function within -- while awaiting the IPSP approval, you obviously have to stay within the confines of the directives to levy charges?


MR. FARMER:  In the context of conservation, that's correct.  And within the IPSP, all conservation is covered by directive.


MR. POCH:  Right.


But the directives each have -- give you varying degrees of discretion.  For example, if we look at the $400 million directive for you to channel -- to fund LDC efforts, it is virtually unconstrained in terms of measures; correct?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.  The directive, in essence, requires us to spend up to $400 million through LDCs.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Similarly, if we look at the low-income budget, as I am sure my friend for VECC will, the 100 megawatts that is targeted there, there is no budget or measure constraints particularly, other than they obviously should be targeted to low-income situations?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  Now, backing up to the high level, I think there is no debate, but just to be sure, I included some clips from your IPSP filing in my materials, and at page 4 I have included your directive priority just to make the simple point that the OPA purports to be proceeding on the basis that CDM, where it is cost-effective, is going to be a priority over supply.

Can we agree on that?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Further, at page 6 of my materials, I have included the clipping from the IPSP prefiled evidence addressing a question of conservation in excess of the target.

First of all, let's make sure we agree the target there that is spoken of, when we use that phrase we are talking about the specific targets that is in the IPSP directive for the years 2010 and 2025; correct?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Can I paraphrase this as saying the plan has CDM contributing at the minimums, included in the IPSP directive, but the position as expressed in that, there and elsewhere in your materials, is that you are open to revising that upwards, if your initial results prove promising on the CDM?

MR. FARMER:  The target as expressed in the directive and the position that we have taken in the IPSP and, in fact, in general, is that it is not a cap that we will achieve as much.  I am not sure of the need to revise it upwards.  We don't intend to slow production of conservation, if I can put it that way, and I am not sure there will be a situation where we will be in front of everybody to talk about whether the target should be revised.

MR. POCH:  I don't mean to suggest you are going to tell the Minister to raise his target, and I hear your sensitivity on that.

You are open -- you have indicated, if I may paraphrase, that you are going to pursue all aggressively cost-effective CDM.  That's what you told Chairman Wetston.  That is your position.  And your prediction of how well -- your prediction in the IPSP is that you will meet the targets.  You have an obligation to do so.  And that you may exceed them, but you are not making a prediction on that yet, although you would like to.  You are waiting and seeing how well you fare in the interim.

MR. PRASAD:  I think if you recall, you know, in our September stakeholder workshop on conservation, that was one of the things the stakeholders said, that: learn by doing and if you learn more, then you do more.  And I think that was the message we got, and we agreed with that position at that time and that's what we have followed.

MR. POCH:  Can you agree with my paraphrase of summing it all up, of how you are pursuing this?  You are going to learn by doing, and if you can do better than the targets, great?

MR. PRASAD:  That's true.

MR. POCH:  So that being the case, would you agree that a very important task for you in 2008 and 2009 and 2010, is to do the research and aggressively go after the CDM to test that, to learn by doing, to see how you can do to see if the IPSP needs to change?

MR. FARMER:  We certainly are committed to that course of action, and have been ramping up conservation activities considerably, so we are taking it from, I believe, 19 programs up to 26 programs in 2008.

And so I believe the record is that we are testing what is possible, but there is a limit to how fast we can ramp this up, strictly based on the capability not only of the market to absorb this level of spending and activity, but also on the ability to get resources in to manage this level of activity.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Certainly in that latter point, the resources to manage, we will come back to that and that is, of course, the matter before Board today.

Just let's make sure we agree on the jargon here.

You have had estimates from experts that you have retained on the technical, economic and achievable CDM potential?  In the marketplace?

MR. PRASAD:  Well, that's true, because that's --

MR. POCH:  Fine.  And just so we understand what "achievable" means, that's what these experts are telling you, is the portion of technical out there -- that is it is out there potentially and it is economic -- the portion of that economic technical potential that you could actually obtain if you have good and timely programs and you have -- the related efforts are made, what have they, conservation culture efforts, and so on.

MR. PRASAD:  This information is contained in the IPSP filing that identified potential.  I am not so sure how to interpret it in terms of the fee case.  But in terms of the information, yes, that is identified potential, is shown in the IPSP filing.

MR. POCH:  I am just asking you, when we talk about "achievable", "achievable" is what the experts are telling you you could achieve, if you have timely and sufficient effort?

MR. PRASAD:  That's what the identified potential, at least I think, meant.

MR. POCH:  It may be too obvious a point.  But "achievable" means "achievable".

MR. PRASAD:  I did not want to go to that point, because I think we used the word "the identified potential".  "Achievable" has, you know, has different connotations.

MR. POCH:  Well, could you tell me if I am wrong?  I have assumed "achievable" means "achievable with good and sufficient effort".

MR. PRASAD:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.

Now, my understanding is that these targets of 13 -- let's look at 1350 for 2010, the near-term one, which is more germane for this proceeding.  But from page 5 of my materials, my understanding is that you assessed that these targets are about 65 percent of the achievable potential?


MR. PRASAD:  They're 65 percent of the identified potential.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Can you tell me if there is a distinction to be made between the identified and the achievable?

MR. PRASAD:  Identified potential is the potential that we can realize.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I think I can treat them for today's purposes as synonymous, then.

If we were to look at Exhibit B, tab 2, this is the strategic objective 2 prefile.  Page 2 thereof, beginning of the text, the prose, I think you make clear there, do you not, that for the purposes of this application, it is the 1350 and 3600 that you are working towards?  Not the higher achievable potential.  Your application for -- in this case, is addressing those targets?

MR. FARMER:  The portfolio, as presented at table 1 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, is the portfolio that feeds into the portfolio that will achieve the 2010 target.  So it is really the year 1 effort of the 2008-2010.

I should stress that this is designed to show how we would meet the target or even exceed the target.  I think it is important to note that even in our first iteration of the IPSP, we didn't stop at 1350.  Our filed evidence actually takes us to 1410 megawatts.

And so there is no reason to believe that this portfolio limits the achievement, in 2008.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I notice two pages over, under the heading "2008 portfolio", which begins, specifically reference the 1350, by 2010.

I took from that, that that's how you are planning your efforts and your budget.

MR. FARMER:  Well, I think it is important at this point to separate the notion of a charges budget for the purpose of running programs and procuring megawatts of conservation from a fees budget.

What we have done in conservation is, we have constructed a portfolio of 26 programs that will be active in the market by the end of 2008, and we believe that is a portfolio of programs that serves all customers and serves all conservation types.  It includes demand response.  It includes fuel switching.  It includes energy efficiency and it includes conservation awareness, and, in fact, it includes self gen, although that is not considered within the strategic objective number 2.


The fees budget that we put together was designed to serve 26 programs.  It wasn't designed to serve a number of megawatts.  The programs that are now running with experience will know how many megawatts those generate and will know how much the charges that are associated with them will be.  But there is no limitation to that.  The charges will flow as the megawatts flow. 


So if the programs are more successful as designed, then they will have higher charges amounts than we currently anticipate; similarly, if they're less.  So the portfolio will be managed over time.  Unsuccessful programs can be dropped out or modified, and successful programs can be emphasized.


So I don't believe that the fees budget, as filed here within the evidence, is limiting the achievement of conservation.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Let me just -- just further on that, then, if you turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 7, first of all, just confirm for the Board we have reproduced there a table that was produced by your consultant, ICF, for that exercise last summer, the CBSAG?



MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  That was the consultation that grew out of the settlement last year; correct?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  I think you can confirm we faithfully copied that table.


I just want to follow up on your last response there.  Your consultants tell you that, you know, for example, in the industrial area, your program is targeting 1 percent of the economic potential, 5 percent of the achievable.


First of all, do you agree with that?


MR. FARMER:  I accept the table.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Are you telling me that if you were to instead target, you know, 40 percent, let's say, or, let's dream, 100 percent of the achievable, that your

-- the budget before the Board in this hearing for research program development, program implementation, you know, administrative -- program administration and evaluation, wouldn't need to change?


MR. FARMER:  I don't believe it would change in 2008.  The underlying story is that efforts are ramping up in the province, and it takes time to understand what -- the level of effort that is required to truly get to achievable potential, if that is indeed possible.


What I want to stress is that the industrial program proposed in 2008 was originally proposed actually for 2007, and, unfortunately, the task of designing approved to be greater than we had anticipated, so it has received OPA board approval in 2008 and is currently going into market, is an infinite size greater than what existed before.  There was no industrial program.  


So it is already targeting a much higher level of service than had existed in the province before that.


We need some time with the program in market, given the long industrial lead times that it takes to generate results and effect difference, before we can truly say whether we need to dedicate more resources to this.


I believe, though, what you would see in the evidence, if looking at the FTE tables, is that we have allocated additional FTE resources in 2008 to our industrial programs.


MR. POCH:  Just so I understand, this interrogatory specifically asked you if you had increased your near term CDM targets following that report and that process.


I took the answer to say -- or you said you have not updated its near term targets.


Further, if you look at the next response, I5.8 in the -- there is a one-paragraph response.  In the third line you say you took that process as confirming that your portfolio is, quote, "on the right track."


So, you know, we were a bit alarmed by this, so I am just -- are you now telling me that you have updated your goals and targets for things -- the matters covered in that table?


MR. FARMER:  No, I can't say that.  We continued to adhere to the target as laid out in the directive, and I think the use of the word "target" is what is causing there to be some misperception or misunderstanding as to what is intended.


We have set a course that we believe will confidently get us to 1,350 megawatts of conservation and demand reduction by 2010, but we have not limited the successive programs in any way.  They will be bigger, is certainly our intent and hope.


MR. POCH:  Now, while we are on Exhibit -- Interrogatory No. 8.  This is -- we just reproduced there the formal written submissions that were made to the OPA in that CBSAG process by one of my group of clients, the Pembina Institute.


You will notice there that in enumerated paragraph 1, they are calling on the OPA to raise the targets to the cost-effective potential identified by your consultants; and, in paragraph 2, to develop a long-range plan to achieve higher potential.


In paragraph 5, in the first bullet, they suggest a road map for each sector for market transformation and end uses, and so on, so it takes into account the various programs and steps and regulatory actions that will be needed to get you to your eventual -- to the eventual goals.


You have indicated there that you didn't -- you haven't done anything as a result, in response to these submissions as of yet.


Then there is that quote that I gave you already, that you felt you got feedback that you are on the right track.  But would you agree that the stakeholder community -- first of all, would you agree that despite your statement that you take away you are on the right track there, at least some of the stakeholder community is clear that they want you to -- they feel you should target more savings, target energy, not just speak, and produce -- have a better road map for where you are trying to go.


Would you further agree, so far, there is no change in the targets, there is no change in your policy with respect to seeking megawatt-hour savings, and there is no road map?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, before the panel answers that question, I would like to ask you, and then them to respond.  I am looking for a clarification of terms here, because I am not clear.


When you use the word "target" or, in your interrogatory 8, Pembina uses the word "target", what do you mean by that?  Do you mean the target in the directive?  Do you mean the OPA's plan?  What exactly do you mean by "target"?  Then I would like the panel to clarify what they mean by the word "target".


MR. POCH:  You are absolutely right, Madam Chair.  I shouldn't use the word "target", because that has been understood by the panel to mean that the -- the Minister's targets, which we have heard them acknowledge, are not caps.  So I am referring to the OPA's goals, which may or may not be synonymous with the IPSP's assumptions, but the OPA's megawatt and megawatt-hour goals for the various years and sectors.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. FARMER:  So I will use the terminology of goals, and the target is as outlined in the directive from the way I would speak, as well.


Firstly, the raising of the targets, as it is stated there or as I believe it was intended by the feedback, the goals, nothing we're doing is inconsistent with raising the goals.  We haven't established a goal different to what the directive target is at this stage.  


We don't have the market practice.  We are still exploring and understanding the market and delivering programs so that we can be better in future at establishing where we will be and what things will cost.  But there is nothing inconsistent with our approach to market with the statement that is made in the recommendation of raising the 2008 to '10 CDM portfolio.  We haven't limited the conservation performance, at all.


We have set up programs that can flow, that can deliver megawatts to the extent that the market is capable of delivering them.


Relative to the long-range plan and the linkages, I believe this is linked more to a market transformation and a regulatory approach, and a regulatory approach is actually outside of our mandate.  We can't change codes and standards.  We can recommend.

We took that advice quite seriously and actually, in our filing of the IPSP, we had said that there were three approaches to achieving the goals and that in the first term, because of the urgency of the first target provided by the government, that we would rely very heavily on a resource acquisition agenda which was incentive-based, and marketing-type programs designed to generate results in a very quick manner, and that in the longer term, we would engage market transformation and capability building programs which are, in our belief, more effective in the long term and certainly more cost-effective from the perspective of the ratepayer.

We have already set in motion a market transformation planning exercise and a codes and standards planning exercise.  They are linked together, focussing on the residential and commercial institutional markets first.  It is our full intent to stakeholder those, and we are putting together currently a schedule of meetings with the Conservation Business Stakeholder Advisory Group to provide feedback on our direction for those, so that we can develop a longer term context for where we're going, and then try to fold our programs into it over time.

MR. POCH:  Let me interrupt you before you turn to the third of the trilogy there, the megawatt hour concern I had.  Just looking at the interrogatory 8 there.  I just want to make sure you appreciate that the stakeholders there have indicated in paragraph 2 and paragraph 5, a request for long-range plans, details, strategy, both for market transformation and more broadly for the energy efficiency.  That was your understanding?

MR. FARMER:  That is, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.  Did you want to address the question of whether your policy on megawatt hours has changed?  I asserted that it hasn't, but I don't want -- 

MR. FARMER:  There is a tension, without question, between the targets which are expressed as demand reduction and the assumption of getting all of the cost-effective conservation that you could, where you would be looking at a definition of energy as being part of cost-effective conservation.

The two are linked.  The two are very difficult to separate.  Any time you do demand reduction, you will have results into energy savings.  Those can vary based on the technology, so with a demand response program you have a very low correlation, maybe two or three hours per megawatt of response.  Whereas with an industrial program where you have high load factors, you get 85 percent of the time the process is running.  So you get very high energy correlation.

We have targeted our programs initially to take on the directive targets, which is to tackle demand reduction, and over time we are learning how the energy relates to that, and we will expand our programs over time to incorporate more energy.

MR. POCH:  Let me just make sure I understand that.  In interrogatory 6, I5.6, we asked you about your 70-megawatt near term expectation for fuel-switching, which arises from your evidence in A9.1 at page 14.

We asked you to compare that to the potential and you declined, indicating you didn't feel it was relevant to this matter today.  But I guess we are concerned that this is a situation, an example of a situation where, if you don't get it soon, you don't get it.  These opportunities come and go.

So in my materials today, I have included an OPA document that is -- let me just find you the reference here -- in the cross-examination materials today, Exhibit K1.1, at page 7.  First of all, can we agree, this is just excerpts, the first few pages of a study that was done for OPA -- Marbek, by Marbek Resource Consultants on fuel-switching potential?

MR. PRASAD:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Indeed, it is focussed on this peak electricity demand concern that you indicate you are stressing in the near term.  By its title, it appears to be.

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can you agree there that, I have just noted that in the -- on page 8 of our materials, that study appears to indicate that there is a megawatt potential, economic potential, of some -- for 2010, near term -- of some 980 megawatts; correct?

MR. FARMER:  I believe that's an economic potential, yes.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  Economic.  If you turn over the page to the achievable potential scenario, the figure of course drops, and it is 122 megawatts by 2010.  Do you see that?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. POCH:  You have indicated in your materials that you filed with this Board that you are ramping up to achieve 70, which my math tells me is 50 percent of what your experts are telling you is achievable.

I guess my concern is, wouldn't you agree that a student that wants to get an A had better target an A, not a C?

MR. FARMER:  I actually don't know how to answer an education question.

MS. NOWINA:  That's a fair response, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I think I have already asked you, but just to be sure, if you were to choose to or be directed to pursue the achievable potential in a manner such as this fuel-switching in the near term, are you confident that you would have the internal resources to do so?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, I am actually comfortable.  Again, we have set 70 megawatts net of free riders as the goal for 2010, which is really when we were establishing a portfolio, our belief of what the market could get to.  There is nothing that limits the performance, again, to 70 megawatts.  Should more conservation arise, then certainly we are able to manage that.

Our current approach to fuel-switching -- we recently received our OPA board approval for a fuel-switching program -- is that the most effective approach that we will have would be to append fuel-switching measures to existing programs, and so that customers can consider the full suite of energy retrofit options that are available to them and weigh them against each other.

MR. POCH:  Gentlemen, you were both with me on Friday at an OPA presentation related to the IPSP, but there was a presentation then which indicated that fuel-switching accounts for 24 percent of the energy saving potential that is out there.  I take it you would agree that it's very significant, when we're looking at the energy side as opposed to the peak side of the equation?

MR. FARMER:  Certainly, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  What your organization is about to embark on, the IPSP, is of course both about energy and peak?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Now you have indicated in answer to our interrogatory 4, Exhibit I5.4, at -- an answer, in the B part of your answer at line 7, you have not established any energy saving targets and a measure -- a success measure for energy savings does not exist.  Is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.  At the time of preparing the responses to the interrogatories, we did not actually have an approved fuel-switching program.  We recently received approval for a fuel-switching program.  Regrettably, I don't have an energy savings target that is currently approved in the front of the Board.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  When I speak of energy savings, I am not speaking solely of fuel switching here, you appreciate.  You don't have an energy savings targets for any aspect of your CDM?


MR. FARMER:  I want to stress we have no energy savings targets.


MR. POCH:  Goal, let me say.


MR. FARMER:  In general, yes.


MR. POCH:  You have no goal, not just with respect to fuel switching.  You have no energy savings goals for any of your CDM? 


MR. FARMER:  Well, in the tension between the word "target" and "goal", we set goals around demand reduction first, which is what the directive requires, and then look at the energy saving possibilities.


And we have established estimates.  Perhaps terminology needs to be cleaned up in future submissions.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  Well, you provided estimates for a few of your programs there, not all of them.  I took it from your first line of your answer that these were simply -- what you simply did was you took your megawatt goals and you applied an assumed load shape for each measure or program, and that allowed you to generate an estimate of your megawatt-hour savings.  


It says right in the answer to (a):

"These estimates are derived using assumptions about the load shapes..." 


Et cetera.


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  So you haven't gone out and said, Look, we want to get some energy, let's go after energy savings measures, for example, in your programs.  These are simply the estimates you were kind enough to generate for us when we asked what the energy impact might be of your megawatt initiatives?


MR. FARMER:  Well, those are the estimates that were created.


I think it is unfair to say that all OPA programs do nothing but tackle summer peak.  Our "Every Kilowatt Counts" program and "Cool Savings" program, for example, have winter energy and winter peak elements, as well.


And as we develop our understanding and planning, we will be able to be a little more robust in planning of those metrics.


MR. POCH:  All right.  You have already agreed that your long-term goal is to achieve what is achievable on CDM, and I -- in this same interrogatory response, in response (c), you acknowledge there that your focus on megawatts -- you accept that there will be lost opportunities due to capital stock turnover.  And the context here was -- the question was about megawatt-hours.


The fact that you are not going after megawatt-hours explicitly at this time means there is going to be some lost opportunities?


MR. FARMER:  Oh, that is correct.


MR. POCH:  So that means that you will not achieve what is achievable, because those opportunities by definition will be lost?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct, but I believe, similar to the targets and goals, we now have achievable and achievable.


Achievable potential is basically derived by experts using mathematical computation.  When we talk about achievable, we are talking about what the market is able to absorb, what we are able to deliver as an evolving organization, and there has to be some, in the short term, understanding that you can't ramp this up as quickly as everyone would want to take in all achievable.


You would want to get there at some point of time, but it is not happening yet.


MR. POCH:  Well, earlier I asked you about this and you gave a list of two barriers.  One, you did indicate that the market can only absorb so much so fast.  Then you said you have to have the resources to manage across that breadth and depth of programming; correct?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So we are not going to talk about the market, what you can do about the market here today.  But we are talking about what resources you have and need to get the breadth and depth.


I have asked you a few times, if you were asked to reconfigure your efforts, if you are comfortable you have the resources.  I took your earlier answers to be that you did.


So I am a bit confused, to be frank.  What added resources would you need to be able to, for example, go after the megawatt-hours at the same time as the megawatts and to go after the full achievable potential, the 122 as opposed to the 70, for example, on fuel switching?


MR. CASS:  Sorry.  I just wanted to say, first of all, Madam Chair, that there is an assumption behind all of this that I don't think is appropriate for this proceeding.  The assumption seems to be that the OPA can do whatever it wants at this point in time, regardless of what the directives say, and I don't think that is correct.


At this point in time, pending approval of the IPSP, the OPA is acting in accordance with directives from the Minister.


I think Mr. Poch's questions would be more to the point if they were focussed on what the OPA is supposed to do under the directives as opposed to what it might do if it could do whatever it wants.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I will restate my question in that context.


Gentlemen, we already covered how a number of the directives give you quite a freedom in terms of measures and, indeed, budget, and I think you have already acknowledged that.


Can we be -- can we see if we agree that except for some obvious examples where the directives tell you to go after demand response, for example, or megawatts, in many cases, while the directives provide megawatt targets, they don't preclude you maximizing the energy savings in how you go after those megawatts, do they?


MR. FARMER:  Well, I think it is important to stress they are largely silent on energy, and what you must remember is while it is very difficult to get demand reduction without energy when you are considering a summer peak, which is really -- the directive addresses summer peak in the current environment of Ontario, it is actually possible to get energy without demand reduction.  


You can look at technologies that only run in off peak times, so seasonal -- LED lighting, for example, is a very interesting technology that would really not reduce peak demand in any way.


So the two are not always as linked as you would wish.


MR. POCH:  Well, I am just asking you, though, and I think you have confirmed, but let's be clear.


With those rare exceptions, there is nothing in the directives that says, when you are going after these sectors for these megawatts, that you shouldn't try to optimize the megawatt-hour savings and thereby achieve whatever is achievable and achieve what is cost effective, is there?


MR. FARMER:  I don't believe within the directives there is anything that precludes that.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Okay, so then when you talk about this -- not the market's ability to absorb, but your ability to manage, you seem to have said it's not a cash flow problem.  When I have invited you today, you haven't taken the bait and said, Oh, let's revise our application before the Board.


What's the internal resource constraint?


MR. FARMER:  It is more an experience problem, in my view.  We have put in place a conservation team that does a mix of long- and short-term planning, provides fulfilment for programs, designs and delivers programs, monitors markets, does research.  It is an extensive team.


However, there are currently, to the best of my knowledge, really no unserved market segments, and our programs are relatively complete.  So over time, while we may not get into introducing new programs, I believe we will get into evolving programs to be more effective, and that may or may not include bringing in MorEnergy.


The constraint, if indeed there were a need to grow - and I stress that I don't know that there is a need to grow beyond what we have asked for in 2008 - the constraint is in getting skilled people in to do the work, quite frankly.  


There is a growing conservation economy in North America.  I was recently at a conference in Washington of the ACEEE and the CEE - that's the American Council For Energy Efficient Economy and Consortium For Energy Efficiency - where they identified that the total market in the United States for conservation was around $3 billion in spending, and while they didn't give a time frame, it is expected to grow to 10 billion in the foreseeable future. 


And the largest constraint identified against being able to get to these levels is in getting skilled labour to do the programs, to do the program design, to do the EM&V that goes with that.  It is a specialized field, and growth in the actual supply of labour is taking time.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  All right.  In that regard, have you gone out; have you hired headhunters to find experienced people in the States, in Europe, where have you?


MR. FARMER:  We have used -- I stress I believe the HR approaches to recruiting are actually in a section of the evidence that I am not able to speak to.


However, we have an active recruiting effort and have used headhunters, to the best of my knowledge.


MR. POCH:  You have gone to other parts of the world to find people?


MR. FARMER:  We have in the past used people from other jurisdictions.  We advertise in various sources.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I sense that is not your area of responsibility, so I will leave it at that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, I am looking at the clock and thinking about a break.  Can you tell me how much longer --

MR. POCH:  I have just a few more minutes, Madam Chair.  I can try to finish before the break, or you can --

MS. NOWINA:  If you have less than ten minutes, then let's finish --

MR. POCH:  I think that's about right.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  I wanted to cycle back to this question of a plan, of a road map.  Earlier, we were discussing that interrogatory where we listed the Pembina Institute's recommendations, and I wanted to make sure you understood that what they were calling for there was a road map of how you get from A to B, for -- across the waterfront for your CDM efforts.  I took it from your response that you don't have such a road map laid out in detailed and specific terms.

Do you intend to develop such a road map?

MR. FARMER:  We do.  When you talk about getting from A to B, perhaps it is easiest for me to describe our longer term planning approach.

We are looking at the residential and commercial markets first, and then the industrial market third, partly because the industrial market is the most difficult market to come to grips with in terms of long-term planning.

So we are getting our experience, if you will, in the residential and commercial.

We're going through a planning exercise.  We have hired consultants through an RFP process, who will be assisting us.  And the first step in the process, for us, is to vision what we think the goals should be in 2025, so establish what the goals for a residential market would be.

What we haven't done is established yet even a framework for what those would look like.  We fully intend to stakeholder.  One example of establishing a goal would be what has been done in California, where by legislation, they have established a goal of all homes being net zero, all new construction homes being net zero by 2025.  That is a very aggressive goal and they acknowledge that, but they're now starting to work backwards from the goal and look at what all the individual elements would be to achieve that goal.

Our initial expectation is that we will establish that goal.  We will engage in planning on the individual elements that work back, but part of that planning needs to be a recognition of what we can and cannot do.

So if, for example, it was determined that a change to a code or a standard was essential to achieve that goal, the OPA has no authority to change codes or standards.  We can merely advise the authorities that do, that if they act, that the outcome will be some form of demand reduction or energy savings.

It is our goal to complete the residential and commercial work by the end of the year, and to fully stakeholder that work along the way.

MR. POCH:  You mentioned not everything is in your control.  But indeed, part of the OPA's task, part of the budget specifically being approved by this Board that doesn't go through charges is your efforts to research and try to influence code standard development; correct?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So you are specifically tasked with trying to pave the way on that front; is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  That is fair, yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Finally, I think you mentioned that you have, I understand that your board at the beginning of this month approved, gave some approval to move forward on fuel-switching; is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  Now, in the undertaking that was -- the agreement that was made last year, the second settlement agreement, the OPA indicated it would provide stakeholders with information on the progress of negotiations.  At that time, we were assuming it was going to be negotiations with the gas companies.

We haven't heard much.  Can you bring us up-to-date now?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  We did conduct stakeholdering with a number of parties.  And on November 26th of 2007, there was a stakeholder session at which there were attendees of a number of organizations, which would include the gas utilities.  Enbridge were represented, as was Union Gas.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  I am just wondering if you could fill us in.  I understood your board has in fact approved you to proceed.  We don't have details on that.  I am wondering if you could give us details on what you are now going to do as a result of that initiative.

MR. FARMER:  Sorry.

Yes.  We have approval from our board of directors to proceed with a fuel-switching program, that as I mentioned earlier, in essence establishes a series of eligible measures, so that would include switching to other fuels, such as natural gas, and also includes geothermal and solar thermal as the primary energy sources.  They're not electricity for those.

These measures will now be added to existing programs that we have in-market, such as the electricity retrofit incentive program.  We are also going to add it to our new construction program.

And the target, if I may use the word "target" because it isn't a limiting factor, was for 52 megawatts gross.  And we intend to fully continue developing and taking to our board additional fuel-switching options over the next year.

MR. POCH:  Is that 52 for 2008?  Or for --

MR. FARMER:  No.  That would be for the -- approval was for a three-year program.

MR. POCH:  So that is 2008 through 2010?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  So now the -- and that would be part of that 70 megawatts that we spoke of earlier?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Did you in fact, have you in fact reached an agreement with the gas companies?  Do you have a contract with them to engage them as delivery channels in this?

MR. FARMER:  No.  We have no contract.  We decided it would be much more effective to add this to existing delivery parties.  We are currently discussing with gas companies some issues, but I don't believe relative to fuel-switching right now.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

We will take our morning break now and return at 11 o'clock.
Procedural matters:


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, just before the break I should perhaps address something, in case the Board is thinking of considering it over the break.  It has to do with the argument schedule that we were discussing earlier.  It occurred to me I may have spoken too hastily about the timing of reply.  I had forgotten that CAMPUT is next week and that could have an effect on reply.

If it is suitable to the Board, I wonder about a schedule.  Assuming the Board decides to go in this fashion, it would have the intervenors submissions this Thursday and then perhaps the OPA's reply the following Thursday.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I would even be comfortable if you wanted to, we could provide written argument by the end of the day tomorrow.  That would allow, hopefully allow OPA to file before the week is out, if that is of assistance.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, could you file earlier than Thursday?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think so.  I think Wednesday is certainly doable.  I am not sure about tomorrow afternoon, but I can check.

MS. NOWINA:  Would that make a difference to you, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  I am speculating here, Madam Chair, because of course I don't know what these things are going to say when we see them.  I'm sorry.

With Mr. Poch's as quickly as he said and Mr. Buonaguro's by Wednesday, perhaps we could achieve it by the end of the week.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

We will now take our break and return at 11 o'clock.

--- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:02 a.m.

Procedural matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Before we resume cross-examination, we can talk about the schedule for argument.


Mr. Vlahos and I have discussed it, and it would have been helpful for us to have finished everything today or tomorrow.  Given that that appears to be difficult for parties, and we do understand the difficulties, there is no need, then, to rush to get all of the submissions today.  That wouldn't be of huge help to us, and we would rather give you the time to be able to do quality submissions.


So, Mr. Cass, will you able to do argument-in-chief today?


MR. CASS:  I could do that, Madam Chair.  I am not sure to what extent an argument-in-chief is necessary.  To a large measure, I think I would be trying to anticipate things coming from the intervenors, which might itself be a mistake.


I frankly don't know that argument-in-chief is necessary.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Are you fine with skipping that step?


MR. CASS:  Unless the Board feels a need to hear something in-chief, I don't think it is necessary.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine with us.  So we won't have argument-in-chief.


We can have parties' submissions by Thursday of this week.  Does that work for everyone, and, Mr. Cass, your reply by the following Thursday?  Is that fine?


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Who would like to cross-examine next?  Mr. Cass, do you have another item?


MR. CASS:  I do.  I'm sorry to keep interrupting.  I did promise after the break to come back with the dollar figure that Mr. Poch was looking for.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  This is the amount that the OPA had budgeted for work in the area of trading of environmental attributes for 2008.  The amount is $32,000; approximately $32,000.


MR. POCH:  We need a couple of days' hearing on that, then.


[Laughter.]


MR. POCH:  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you next?

Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  I am just going to start with some questions confirming some of the figures, the overall figures, in the filing.  If you need the references, I can give them to you, but I would suggest you might want to take them subject to check, because they are based on the application, obviously.


I understand from your filing that for 2008 the operating budget is 67 million, 521 million -- sorry, $67.521 million; is that correct?


MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, that would be the total budget.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And that the net revenue requirement is $51,868,000?


MR. FARMER:  Again, subject to check, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the fee per megawatt-hour that you are requesting to recover that amount or those amounts is 0.346 dollars per megawatt-hour?


MR. FARMER:  Again, subject to check, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I mentioned the net revenue requirement figure.  That doesn't directly include capital spending, which gets into the amount as an amortization expense.  It doesn't include amounts paid to third parties, or -- and it doesn't include amounts paid to third parties contracted by the OPA to deliver programs; right?


MR. FARMER:  Not my area, but, yes, I believe that to be correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  The fee is collected on your behalf by the IESO from directly connected customers, including local distribution companies as part of the wholesale market charge?


MR. FARMER:  Again, this is not my area of accountability, but I believe it is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's actually from Exhibit I, T4, S33, page 3.


Then the local distribution companies then recover that fee from their customers?


MR. FARMER:  I believe that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Generally speaking, the charge appears on customers' bills under a line item called regulatory charge, I believe?


MR. FARMER:  That I do not know.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you take that subject to check?


MR. FARMER:  I can.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That means that basically all customers, electricity customers, pay that charge?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And it's a volumetric charge?  Thank you.  Now, your operating budget for 2007 was 56,623,000?  That's from Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3, table 2 updated.


MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, rather than turning them all up.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I wasn't expecting you to turn it up.


The actual forecasted operating costs for 2007 are only 48,969,000, so there is a significant reduction in what you actually expect to spend in 2007; right?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in this particular case, the explanation for that is I think three-fold.  There was an offset to recognize registration fees forecast for 2008?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And there was an adjustment in your forecast variance deferral account because of differences between revenues and expenses for 2006 and 2007?


MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, I believe so, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And there was an adjustment arising from a change in accounting treatment of the conservation technology development funds?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That is all from page 5 of Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, updated page 1.


Now, turning to what you are actually here for, to speak about strategic objective number 2, my understanding is that in your 2008 budget, that particular objective accounts for almost half of the OPA's 2008 spending.  I think the actual amount is $26,445,000?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And with respect to full-time employees or FTEs associated with the strategic objective number 2, they have actually increased by over 100 percent from 2008 over 2007?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct, I believe from 32.9 FTEs to 66.2.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And even if we look back at year 2007, you had budgeted 32.9, but, in fact, you are forecasting now for 2007 43.2 million for conservation FTEs?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So in case I fumbled that, what you thought you were going to spend in 2007 turned out to be -- you needed a lot more than you thought?


MR. FARMER:  Sorry, a correction.  The numbers you cited, I believe, were FTEs, not millions.  So we had budgeted 32.9 and had 43.2 FTEs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Thank you.


So looking at your total OPA head count, you have budgeted 183.8?


MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, I believe that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it fair to say that that number could change significantly over the next few years, depending on your assessment of requirements?


MR. FARMER:  I believe, again, evidence related to human resources, that we are not currently in a position to forecast future head count.  It could change; it could not change.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The fact that you are not in a position to forecast suggests that it could change.


MR. FARMER:  It could change.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think you acknowledged that in VECC IR number 9, where you indicated that the OPA does not have a clear picture as to its long-run staffing requirements.


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, our understanding is that a lot or almost all of the activities pursued by the OPA depend on the directives you receive from the Ministry?


MR. FARMER:  At this time, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you receive a new directive subsequent to this hearing, it may materially affect your staffing requirements?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just cancelling some questions that I don't need.


At a high level, can you explain how the OPA decides on a particular program or program mix and the respective budgets for 2008, and how they did that?


MR. FARMER:  Yes, I can.  So, again, it's very important to separate the expenditures related between fees and charges.


We have looked at the directives and looked at our assessment of the market through our business planning process, and we have come up with 26 programs that we believe will meet or exceed the targeted megawatts.  And in our budget process, we looked at what we would need to be able to run those programs.  So in the situation where a program is existing, we would look at what we would need to assess the success of the program, to look at market developments, redesign the program if necessary, and to deliver the program.

In the situation where a program is new, we look at our needs based on experience to design a program, do market research and deliver that program.  So the fees are the assessment of what is needed to deliver the suite of programs and the planning association.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I can take that simply, you have a target for 2008 in terms of what you want to achieve.  Then you pick a suite of programs that you think will meet that target.  And then looking at those programs, you determine how much you're going to have to recover in fees in order to manage those programs.  Is that the simpler way of putting it?

MR. FARMER:  That is essentially the process, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, specific to the mass market area of your program spending, can you tell me at a high level how you allocate spending within that area?

MR. FARMER:  I am unclear.  Does it mean how do we allocate the portion of spending to the mass markets?  Or how we allocate within the 13 or so programs that make up the mass market program suite?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, let me start it this way.  You have, I guess, a total -- you first pick a target for the mass market; is that right?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then you pick 13 -- in this case, you pick 13 programs to meet that target?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How do you pick those 13 programs?  What are the criteria?

MR. FARMER:  Again, a combination of programs that are in-market and our initial assessments of how those programs are working.  We also look at the market to see where there may be gaps or opportunities that we can act upon, and that is how we determine the new programs that are introduced into that.  And 13 was the suite of programs that was deemed to be the right number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then from your earlier answer, I guess once you have got the 13 programs, that will -- you have a consideration of what fees you are going to require in order to administer those programs?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that generally how you do your planning year by year on a go-forward basis?  Is that what you anticipate to do every year?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I think that's, in essence, it's a reasonable planning process that looks at where we are and where we need to be and determines how to get from one step to the next.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  You might want to turn this reference up.  It is in your material at Exhibit A, tab 8, schedule 2, pages 9 and 10 of 56.  You may have guessed that I was going to turn this up at some point, too.

It is the directive from the Minister of Energy, dated October 6th, 2005, in respect of the CDM initiatives for residents for low-income and social housing.

I am just going to read from page 2 of that document, which basically sets out, I think, the Minister's expectations on the OPA with respect to this directive.

I am reading from the last, I guess, full paragraph it says:
"More particularly, it is expected that the OPA will commence implementation by no later than the summer of 2006, through such procurement contracts and activities as the OPA determines to be advisable, a program based on the Ministry's low-income CDM initiative, that will reduce overall electricity energy consumption and demand by residents of low-income and social housing by up to 100 megawatts."

I just want to ask you about that aspect of the directive.  It seems to me that might give you quite a bit of latitude, and I am wondering if you agree.

MR. FARMER:  Well, I do agree.  I think we discussed earlier that in the nature of the directives, they generally lay out what is to be achieved and with which target audience, if you will, that leave us some latitude in the timeframe and the approach.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I take it, technically, if you targeted one megawatt, you are within the -- you are just as well within the directive as you would if you were targeting 99 megawatts?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  That would be true.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you interpret or does the OPA interpret the 100 megawatt figure as the actual long run target of the initiative?

MR. FARMER:  We interpret the figure as being to gain 100 megawatts of demand reduction, if you will, within the low-income and social housing sectors.  But it is not time-specific.  So whether it is long run or short run is really not within the directive itself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you would agree that without a timeframe, doesn't the number become meaningless?

MR. FARMER:  No.  I don't believe so.  We have taken the directive and ramped up our efforts in the single family and social housing -– or, sorry, the low-income single family and social housing markets considerably, and continue to do so.

I believe in not setting a timeframe, it was a recognition that we didn't yet know how soon it was feasible to do so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My next question was actually going to ask you if you have a timeframe.  Your answer to my previous question seems to suggest that you don't have one.

MR. FARMER:  No.  We do not have a timeframe to complete this directive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at Exhibit B, at tab 2, schedule 1, page 6 of 31, there is a table there and it shows the target for the 2008 single family low-income housing program to be 1.5 megawatts of gross savings and one megawatt of net savings.  At the bottom, it explains what "net" means, which is essentially net of free riders, 30 percent of free riders.

Going back to the OPA figure of 100 megawatts, does the OPA assume that to be net savings or gross savings?

MR. FARMER:  Well, the directive asks for an amount of demand reduction, and so we interpret that to be to ensure that the conservation resource occurs.  And at this point in time, our best way to be sure that we are making sure that the conservation resource occurs is to work within net numbers.  But if, for example, another entity -- we don't know which one -- were suddenly to start offering programs to single family low-income customers for an alternate reason, and that is generating demand reduction, then that is conservation that is occurring and not as a result of our programs, and therefore, I believe would contribute to the directive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Generally speaking, your approach to be safe is you treat that as a net target, or at least you evaluate your programs on a net basis, but there might be circumstances where you can -- I don't know if they take credit for, but you can account -- you do count the gross savings?

MR. FARMER:  There may be, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at -- I don't think you have to turn this up, but it is Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1.  It is page 2 and table 1.  It talks about your targeted savings for OPA resource acquisition programs in general.

You have a net target there of 307.1 megawatts?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Of that figure, the amount targeted from savings for single family low-income households is 1.1 megawatts.  Is that right?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is about -- you can take this subject to check -- 0.36 percent of the total of 307.1 million megawatts.

MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's very small.

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Does the OPA have any other CDM activities planned or programs planned for low-income housing in -- or for low-income consumers for 2008?

MR. FARMER:  We are also in the process of introducing a multi-family buildings program, and the multi-family buildings -- so in essence multi-residential structures -- The multi-family buildings program is designed to serve social housing and also to serve private rental, and we do know that some portion of private rental is occupied by low-income customers, also.


So the multi-family buildings program does seek to serve.  I don't know at this time know what portion of the targeted for that program would be allocated to social housing and private rental low-income.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to make sure I understood that.  You do have multi-family program spending for 2008?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the subset of multi-family program spending will be social housing?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Targeted social housing?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You will be able to separately identify that?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's not actually a program that's in place right now?


MR. FARMER:  The program has been approved but is in procurement, and we don't yet know how the splits will occur between the social housing and private rental.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have a target for the program as a whole?


MR. FARMER:  For 2008, at page 7 of 31, Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, table 4 is The multi-family buildings program, and the gross is for 17 megawatts with a net of 12 in 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So for argument's sake, we're looking at 12.  The social housing targeted aspect of that would be some part of the 12?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then I guess you are also assuming that there are some low-income consumers that are not in social housing that will be caught by that, I take it, is the second part of your answer?


MR. FARMER:  Yes, there are.  In the stakeholder engagement, one of the areas we explored is how to reach low-income customers that are in private rental.  It's a very difficult market to reach, particularly with the split incentives between building owners and building tenants.


We -- I would have to say the program we hope will evolve to serve those customers better.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I take it, then, if we're looking the Minister's directive, it would be -- you might say that it's not one megawatt for 2008, or I guess it is the -- sorry, the net one megawatt that -- we talked earlier about the single family low-income program.  


That would be supplemented by some amount of spending on the social housing, so it is one plus something for 2008?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But we don't know what the plus is?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But it is no more than 12?


MR. FARMER:  Less than 12.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Less than 12, okay.


Now, there was an IR from the EDA, IR No. 2, which is at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 2 on page 2.


The top section of the table on that page called "Mass Markets", you can see that the single family low income initiative is supported by an OPA budget of 39,000?


MR. FARMER:  I believe the table is misleading.  In the answer that we gave, the reasons why -- the question was to allocate the known portions of budgets specifically to the programs.  So in our program planning, we were able to identify $39,000 at this time of planned non-salaried work that would relate to the program, keeping in mind that there were considerable efforts in 2007 through two pilots to uncover what was needed in this market.


So what you can't do is take the balance of the conservation budget beyond these items and allocate them specifically, because FTEs do not necessarily work on single programs, and consultants don't always work on one program at a time.


So there is probably a higher level of effort towards single family than this particular table would dictate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to understand how that operates within this table, then, what you are telling me, because if I look at the number of thousands column, you have a subtotal called conservation total of 29,561,000?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Then you've got some additional amounts, Conservation Bureau, EM&V, legal and regulatory, communications, information systems.  You add that to the 20 million, you get 26,445?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So everything is accounted for on the table; right?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So having broken out 39,000 for the single family low-income program, what you must be saying to me is that there are components of these other budget items that increase that amount?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  If you follow the table down past the individual program breakouts, you find the conservation and technology funds, and they're doing work in the low-income and multi-family area.  You find conservation awareness.  Some portion of the conservation awareness budget actually targets hard-to-reach customers to build up awareness of that.


Research is currently a budget that is, then, drawn by the program managers on a prioritized basis, so we have about a million dollars for research.  Some portion of that will likely end up going to single family, and conservation unallocated, which is primarily salaries and related benefits.  Some portion of the staff is working on single-family and multi-family buildings programs, but it is not a fixed number, so we couldn't allocate it.  


Sometimes you need more parties involved in elements of the program RFP than you do at other times.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So maybe I can summarize the problem from my perspective, then.


As a practical matter, your total spending is allocated amongst the different sectors that you are trying to serve?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you don't collect -- you don't have -- sorry.  You don't run a cost allocation model, for example, like a utility, would to allocate those costs across the different sectors?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am assuming that is mostly because when you collect your fees, you simply put the total amount to the IESO and they collect the total amount for you; right?


MR. FARMER:  I agree.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


Could you turn up IR response at I, tab 5, schedule 4, page 1.  This is a response to GEC-Pembina-OSEA.  You have provided here a table which provides estimated energy savings in megawatt hours.  For the single family low income, the estimate is 6,000 megawatt hours?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the second lowest line item in the table; right?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the total, which isn't on the table, but I think is easy enough to do, is -- total megawatt-hours is 502,000 megawatt-hours?


MR. FARMER:  I agree.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And so if we put the single family low income target as a percentage of the total, we're looking at, subject to check, it is about 1.19 percent of the total?


MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Going back to the -- where I started in terms of the OPA fee that's charged on -- as a regulatory charge, low-income customers pay the same charge as everybody else; is that right?










MR. FARMER:  Subject to check.  I am unaware of low-income rates.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me put it this way.  We talked about the 0.346 megawatt-hour -- per megawatt-hour charge that is levied to recover your fees.  That's simply a volumetric charge that everybody pays?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to get into a little bit of theory here or perhaps principle.


If everybody is paying a share of your fees proportionate to, I guess, their throughput, because this is a volumetric charge we're talking about, but they're not receiving the same proportional benefit of the spending, would you agree that those who are over -- sorry, those who are not getting the proportional share of the benefit are subsidizing the people who are, and getting a greater benefit than their proportional spending?

MR. FARMER:  Well, I don't agree, and I think that at this point we get into a little bit of a philosophical difference.

My opinion is that too many parties view the programs and the incentive payments to participants as being the benefit, and they're really tools to get to the real benefit, which is demand reduction and energy savings.  And those are realized in avoided costs, avoided energy that they don't have to pay for in the future, and the reality of those savings is that just as the rate structure is not allocated, the savings are not allocated.  There is no rate for various parties.

So the, for example, program that generates considerable savings from an energy perspective in industrial will benefit industrial customers, but it will also benefit residential customers, commercial customers and low-income customers.

And so to me the key is to pick the programs that will generate the greatest benefit to the ratepayer as a whole, rather than allocating programs to ratepayers based on some idea of cost, which may limit your ability to generate savings.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me see if I understand that.

There is, I guess, there is a level at which any reduction in demand benefits everybody?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But there is also the fact that reduction in demand for a particular customer, in addition to the system-wide benefit, benefits them in particular.  I think you called that reduced energy savings.

So I think as a simple example, if my neighbour is the target of an OPA program and I am not, we both benefit from the system-wide impact of reduced demand, but then he or she also gets savings because their actual energy use goes down, whereas mine hasn't.  Is that right?

MR. FARMER:  Well, I think it is the balance between participants and non-participants.  If done correctly, all ratepayers will benefit.  Those that participate in the programs obviously do benefit through reduced bills.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I find this interesting, because there is a hint there of a "max/min" principle, where you're saying that -- you seem to be suggesting that you structure your spending and your program targeting and your targets in such a way that you will maximize the minimum benefit.  Did you understand that?

MR. FARMER:  I understand what you are saying, and I apologize to anyone I have misled into believing that we strive to solely maximize benefits.  If we were to do so, we would probably take as much money as possible and take it to a very small sector of the market and do everything we absolutely could within, for example, the largest 50 industrial customers.

We apply portfolio criteria that allow us to have a suite of programs, which is why we have 26 programs that serve all customers and allow all customers to benefit.  And in the program design, we take into consideration the various needs of the customers; program design starts from the customer.

So for example, in single family low-income, we look at a 100 percent incentive model for the supply of energy efficiency to low-income customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I take that.  But my question was slightly different, and let me see if I can explain.

What I was getting is not -- I wasn't getting the impression from your earlier answers that you were trying to maximize savings, just general savings, but that you were trying to maximize savings at the same time that you're maximizing the minimal savings.  There seemed to be a suggestion that - and we'll take the example of a low-income customer - that spending, at least in theory, spending all your money on different sectors might benefit that low-income customer more than spending some money on the low-income customer.

That by focussing your attention on other sections disproportionately, the overall benefit on the low-income consumer would be more than if you spent a proportional amount of money on that low-income consumer.

MR. FARMER:  I haven't done an analysis to support that.  However, I believe directionally it is true.  There are lower savings per customer, if you will, in the low-income market and generally in the residential market, than there are in the bigger market.

And in the low-income market, you pay more to get each of the savings in terms of ratepayer cost, because any dollar is a barrier to a low-income customer.  So you typically end up in 100 percent incentive models.

So I am not totally sure what your question is, but I believe it is that there is a disproportionate relationship between the amount spent and the benefits generated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will only try a little tweaking of the answer before I move on.

In theory, it seems, you seem to be suggesting that you might be able to, for example, spend 100 percent of your program spending and therefore your fee spending on industrials.  And that would be defensible in the context that doing that ultimately is better for all of the other customer sectors that you have to deal with, than spreading the money amongst them.

MR. FARMER:  No.  To correct, when I was talking about allocating spending, I was referring to the charges that are related with spending.

In the analysis of fees, if you are truly looking at the market, you are going to spend some portion of fees on each customer group, in order to come up with a portfolio and approach that -- I think the point I am actually trying to make is that the fees spent in an individual year do not actually relate to the benefits and charges spending that occur in that year.  The charges budget is entirely separate from that.

The fees budget supports the programs, getting the programs into market, the consulting and salaries that go with running those programs.

The charges are related to the amount of activity that the program generates and the nature of the design of the program.  The two are very separate.

I don't believe you should look at the fees allocation for low-income and take from it some allocation of charges as a result.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me ask you this.  Do you, as part of your planning for spending, and in particular for 2008 spending, do you look at this question about whether or not your program spending -- and I guess related to that your fees spending -- is disproportionate in such a way that you are benefiting some customers rather than others?  Even though they're all paying the same volumetric charge?

MR. FARMER:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that part of your thought process?

MR. FARMER:  No, it really isn't.  Our criteria are to ensure that all customers can access programs, and what we're trying to do in certain programs is basically to find out how big they should get.

And so 1.1 megawatts in the single family low-income, which isn't limited -- you know, if the program is very successful it could be more -- and as I recall, the actual objective we have established over the three-year timeframe is nine megawatts for that program.

Is a reflection of ramping the program up from what last year was too limited pilots to learn about the market, to new a full-scale implementation, which we expect to take program design to our board in the second quarter.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You said full-scale implementation.  What would that result be on a yearly basis?  I know it is nine over three years.

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And one in the first year.

MR. FARMER:  Current budget is one in the first year, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you are getting nine over three years, one in the first year, and it's being ramped up in between, the yearly has to be at least four, or probably more than that?

MR. FARMER:  I believe it increases over time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you anticipate it will increase beyond 2010 to something more than four, more than five, more than six per year?

MR. FARMER:  I can't say how big is the right level of savings per year for the single family low-income beyond 2010.  We have prepared an estimate, and between 2008 to '10, we will deliver the program and see how it is doing, and do some detailed evaluation, EM&V, and make the decision in the next IPSP as to how to continue to tackle that market.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I provided a copy of excerpts from Board decision in EB-2006-0021.  I think Board Staff has some copies.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  EXCERPTS, ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD DECISION IN EB-2006-0021

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that Exhibit K1.2, and I have copies for the Panel.


MR. BUONAGURO:  As it turns out, the entire Panel was sitting on that particular decision.


Just a couple of things I wanted to chat with you about on that decision.  Looking at page -- what we have labelled as page 20.2, we have highlighted some sections there talking about the -- what's called the demand-side management variance account, and it talks about matching costs of programs to the people receiving benefits from the programs.


Do you see that?


MR. FARMER:  I do see it, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess this relates to some of the questions I have been asking you about matching the benefits and the costs.


Is this a type of analysis that the OPA could endorse for its program spending?


MR. FARMER:  No.  I believe there's substantive differences between gas and electricity, and not least of which is one that you have identified yourself, which is the way the rates are collected.


The demand-side management variance account, as I recall, is designed to capture expenditures on demand-side management activities relative to what was collected, and that those amounts are actually collected by individual rate groups, such as the nature of billing in the gas market.  So it is returned, if not spent proportionally.


We don't have that same rate-gathering structure to be able to do that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I understand the practical problems, since we have talked at least at some length about how you collect your fees.


But aside from the practical problem, then, the fact that you don't allocate your spending as between sectors, the principle, I think, is one I would like you to comment upon, the principle that if you are spending the money on a particular sector, they should be the ones that pay for it.


MR. FARMER:  I reject proportional budgeting and spending.  I believe it limits the ability of any organization to deliver its mandate, and we have a mandate captured within directives and over the next number of IPSP cycles laid out in the IPSP.  And to go to proportional spending can actually limit your ability to get to or exceed those targets in the long run.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there something other than the cost recovery process, which you talked about as being a major difference in the gas sector, is there something different about the gas sector that makes it appropriate for the gas companies to agree to a proportional spending principle that is different in your case?


MR. FARMER:  Well, the -- all I can observe is that the gas companies agreed to a proportional spending proposal for motivations that were their own.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I should -- to be fair, the way this played out in this particular decision, there was a settlement proposal where they agreed to proportional spending, and then the settlement -- again, this Panel was there, so they know this.  So I want to make sure I am very careful about how I characterize it.  


The settlement was rejected as a settlement in the first instance, and there was a full hearing, and then the Board decided to accept that as part of a package way of dealing with DSM.


I don't know if it is -- I didn't want to mislead you to think it is simply the companies agreed to it.


MR. FARMER:  I am equally being careful.  I was Union's lead witness in the generic gas hearing and party to all of the negotiations.  And I am not sure, as Union is not represented here, that I can really talk about motivations that led to the decision to propose.  


As I recall, it was a partial settlement that I believe was VECC did not agree to.


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, no.  We agreed.  I think you are referring to Mr. Poch down the way.


Okay.  That's okay.  We don't have to delve any more into that.  We can leave that to argument.


Just one last thing on that particular decision I wanted to touch on, and this is at -- we have labelled this as page 20.5.


This is the section talking about targeted programs.  In this decision, the Board accepted particular target for spending within the residential markets for low-income customers.


Is this type of a structure something that the OPA could endorse?


MR. FARMER:  No.  I will go back to our mandate as driven by directives.  And we need the flexibility to plan our programs and adjust accordingly, and programs that are not contributing to the achievement of the directive should not be held in by virtue of some proportional spending mandate.  


I am not trying to suggest that that would be the case in low-income programs.  I believe that they can be quite successful.  But I believe the whole principle of proportionality limits the ability of an organization to plan appropriately and to deliver results for its ratepayers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I find it interesting you mention programs that are not meeting the directive.  In the context of the low-income spending, you have a specific directive, right, which says up to 100 megawatts.


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I believe actually in my answer I said that our programs currently are all directed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that, but in terms of distinguishing -- did you said you needed the flexibility to, I guess, drop programs that aren't meeting the directive.


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But in the context of low-income programs, you have for this year, for 2008, which I think it is characterized as the first year of the program, a 1 megawatt net target, and then over three years you have a 9 megawatt target based on the program structure that you have.


What flexibility is it that you are trying to retain in this particular instance?  I mean, there is only one program.  You're going to keep the program.  What is stopping you from adding more programs to meet the 1 megawatt, I guess, end target, if you want to call it that, quicker by spending more money on low-income programs and, in doing so, meeting a general proportionality type principle?


MR. FARMER:  I believe it's really related to the issues we were discussing earlier with counsel for GEC.


We're ramping up these programs and learning as we go, and so we have evidence that suggests that the market does not have the ability to deliver programs that are severely ramped up over where we are now, and our own experience is such that we can't necessarily go from 1 to 10 in this market at this time through limitations of the channels, limitations of identifying customers, and, admittedly, our own limitations in terms of managing extensive suites of programs.


When I referenced dropping programs, we still have a directive.  So if a particular program approach we have taken now were to not prove to be successful -- I believe it will, but if it were to prove not to be successful, we may choose to discontinue that program approach.  


I absolutely acknowledge that we would have a directive for low-income that would -- maybe we would have to replace it with something or augment it with something if it were deemed to be needing more effort.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  I think what I am hearing, though, is that while there may be practical problems in terms of meeting such a principle in a particular time frame, and there may be practical problems finding the right program, things like that, there is nothing necessarily wrong with the principle, at least not from your last answer?


MR. FARMER:  No.  I believe that there is something wrong with the principle.  And, fundamentally, the principle isn't limited to low-income customers.  It moves to all customer sectors.


And so if you take proportionality out to its logical conclusion, you will have a proportion for industrial customers, a proportion for commercial, a proportion for institutional, a proportion for low income.  And you suddenly have very little ability or no ability to move between the customer groups to ramp up or ramp down efforts, because they must all move up or down proportionally.  


You are no longer balancing programs.  You are just looking at a total spend and saying, I need to spend more or less.  I believe actually in the generic hearing, my interpretation was that the Board didn't accept proportionality.  The Board accepted a process for changing the proportion of spending between the groups as a way of addressing the interests of the parties.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I take your point.  I think in the particular decision, I think the proportionality was within the residential sector, but I think what you are -- you mentioned the problem of having to increase everybody's spending all at the same time, or decreasing everybody's spending all at the same time.

Again, that would be a practical problem that results from the way in which you happened to, I guess, not allocate your fees amongst customers, which is a function of how you collect your fees.

MR. FARMER:  Again, proportionality has even less relevance to fees because fees are linked to the work at hand.  And if the programs two years from now are working well and the analysis done in 2009 says that there isn't another program approach for, for example, low-income customers, then you would not be serving anybody by allocating fees to it just because you have been told to.  If you don't need to spend fees on a customer group, because everything is going along very well, then you don't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I am going to move on to my last series of questions.  I am almost going to hit my hour target.  I am direct on time.

From your evidence -- or sorry, I guess this is from Energy Probe IR 29, which is at I, tab 4, S 29.  You talk about having established an evaluation measurement and verifying group at the OPA.  All right?

Then earlier on, at I, tab 4, schedule 22, which is also an interrogatory from Energy Probe, you state the following:
"Formal evaluation reports are expected to be made public via the OPA Internet website on an annual basis.  The OPA will provide the formal evaluation reports from the third-party evaluation contractors without editing, except in situations where commercially sensitive information is contained in the reports."

Could you give us an example, or explain what circumstances under which reports would contain commercially sensitive information that would need to be redacted?

MR. FARMER:  Sure.  In a lot of instances, programs become a series of contractual arrangements.  In fact, it is our only tool as a contractual tool, and so where we have a program with another organization, the EM&V looks at many facets of program delivery.  And so it would look at the success as it relates to the individual measures, and do an assessment of what the savings should have been.

You know, we have seen that over the years in other jurisdictions of electricity and gas in Ontario, where we thought the fridge saved "X" and it turns out upon evaluation that it saves "Y".  So you are looking at the very specific measures and determining whether or not the savings were accurate.

You are also looking at, in doing a thorough evaluation, how the counterparty took the program to market, how much did they spend on their own advertising, did they staff appropriately, what did they spend for support, and other things.

And the sensitivity is that that is a contractual relationship between the OPA and the other party.  And so, in revealing the results of the evaluation, it may not be within our ability under contract to reveal what all of the dollars paid to the other party were, for things like marketing.  So we may have to redact some of that information to assure that we retain our contractual obligation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in terms of this process of formal evaluation reports, would there be any process for stakeholders to see preliminary or draft reports, and ask for information, provide input?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  We are currently planning a very thorough conservation business stakeholder advisory group, which I want a different name for, for this year.

And one of the things we intend to do, at one of the meetings is a thorough review of all of our EM&V on our programs from 2007, because that's essential to gaining their input into what we should do differently in 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would that process encompass the type of scrutiny of the results that you are presenting from stakeholders, that you would expect, for example, sort of an audit committee or audit subcommittee?  Or is it something less than that?

MR. FARMER:  Well, I don't see the need for a specific committee to advise us on what the savings have been.  There is no revenue implication that I am aware of with the results.

In fact, we hold ourselves accountable.  It is within the power system planning group that they need to be confident that it is a true resource, so that they can plan for it going forward and ensure that we meet the resource targets that have been put into the directives and into future IPSPs.

We are committed to being as transparent as possible, and we are fully committed to stakeholdering.  I believe our practice has been to stakeholder extensively.

So I think that what we're going to get is a thorough examination of our results and advice from parties.  We certainly intend to make it such, and I think what remains to be seen is what we do with that advice.  But I assure you we intend to incorporate it fully into future program design.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. MacIntosh?
Cross-examination by Mr. MacIntosh:


MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Buonaguro, within his hour, has covered our areas of concern.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Mr. Barr, are you going to ask questions?

MR. BARR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We have no questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Buonaguro did cover some of my questions, but I have a few remaining.  I suspect I will be maybe 20 minutes or so, so I assume we can finish before the lunch break.
Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I am going to be referring to two documents, I guess.  The first is one that we have been discussing quite a bit, Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1.  You may wish to also turn up Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 4.  That's Electricity Distributors' Association Interrogatory No. 4.

I am going to be asking questions about the increase in staffing level, so if we could start by turning to table 2, which is on page 4 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1.

You covered some of this with Mr. Buonaguro, so I will just go over it very quickly.  We have already determined that the staffing levels are essentially doubling from 32.9 in 2007, at least the budget, to 66.2, is the budget for 2008?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look through, you have helpfully broken it down a little bit for us.  I see some of the bigger jumps are, conservation programs goes from 25.6 to 41.7; is that right?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And EM&V, which I think is evaluation, measurement and –-

MR. FARMER:  Verification.

MR. MILLAR:  Verification, 1 to 8.  Conservation support 1 to 5.2.  And also I see portfolio planning goes from zero to 2.  In fact, you have broken them all out there.  So those are just the highlights.  I've got all that right?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we start with the conservation programs, which went from 25.6 to 41.7?

Still on page 4 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, you state that these programs -- and you are talking about conservation programs, this is the -- I guess it is the second full sentence on page 4.  It says:
"These programs plus the customer-side generation projects implemented by the electricity resources division, target a reduction of electricity demand in 438 megawatts."

Then if we turn back to page 2, you have actually broken it down for us, and I just want to make sure I have all of the numbers right.

The 438, I guess, includes free riders; is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.  It is a gross number.

MR. MILLAR:  If you back out free riders, the total is 307.1 megawatts?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Of which 19.7 are for customer-based generation programs?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the total from the conservation programs, if my math is right, is about 287 megawatts?

MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I just subtracted 19.7 from 307.

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you confirm for me, or maybe you can't, but the staff from the electricity resources division, those aren't allocated in the 66.2 FTEs, are they?

MR. FARMER:  No, they're not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so those are something separate.  Okay.  Thank you. I am looking at EDA No. 4 now, and this is where you have broken down the numbers.  Within the conservation program, the 41.7 FTEs, you have actually broken it down amongst the individual program headings.


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I see there's -- you have the commercial, the mass markets and the demand response and industrial.  There is also two headings, one called channel development, that has one employee budgeted for 2008, and marketing, which has 8.7 budgeted for 2008 as opposed to five for 2007.


Can you tell me a little bit about what channel development means?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  Channel development is one role, and channel development has the accountability for delivering and managing the pilot of the aboriginal program initiative, and also for local reliability.  And so the channel development director is actually doing the planning around local reliability from a conservation context, so looking at the needs of each area and looking at how we're doing, and then working with all of the other people in conservation to take action, if necessary.


MR. MILLAR:  And you didn't have anyone doing that role in 2007?


MR. FARMER:  No, no one specific.  It was spread across all of the directors prior to 2008.


MR. MILLAR:  How was it determined that you needed a specific person to take on that role?


MR. FARMER:  We looked at the task and felt that local reliability was a significant need and that we definitely needed somebody to coordinate the planning as it related to local reliability from a conservation perspective.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


For marketing, the 8.7 FTEs there, what do those folks do?


MR. FARMER:  Marketing has two areas of accountability.  One is to drive the conservation awareness initiative, which primarily supports the culture of conservation, but also marketing -- or conservation awareness is a key support to programs.  It is essential to educate customers on the need to conserve so that the programs can be more successful.


The other thing that marketing does is marketing supports the delivery of programs by designing and delivering the marketing support for those programs.  So you have somebody, for example, in the mass market area who has accountability for one of our programs, for example, the EKC program, and they may have some analyst support, but they will have marketing support for packaging, for coupon design and for advertising to support.  So marketing does that work.  


MR. MILLAR:  Do they actually design programs?


MR. FARMER:  Within marketing?  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And why was it necessary to add 3.7 FTEs over 2007 for marketing?


MR. FARMER:  Because the number of programs that are actively in market has risen or will have risen by the end of 2008 to 26 programs, and our conservation awareness activities continue to be stepped up.


MR. MILLAR:  It was -- was it 17 in 2007?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Okay, if we can look to the mass marketing programs, again in EDA number 4 you show that in 2007 you had budgeted for 7.3 FTEs, and for 2008 you've got 14; is that correct?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So essentially you have doubled the number in mass markets?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I see, if we skip back over to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, if we look at table 3 on page 5 - in fact, it is pages 5 and 6 - there are 12 programs in total.  I heard somebody say 13 earlier, but I see 12.


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  In describing the portfolio, conservation awareness is often described as the twenty-sixth program.  So as it resides primarily with the mass markets, it is the thirteenth program you don't see in this table.


MR. MILLAR:  That's not a new program, though?  That is a carry-over?


MR. FARMER:  No.  It has been ongoing.


MR. MILLAR:  So I have it here that there are seven carry-overs and five new, but it is actually eight carry-overs and five new; is that right?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I know that there were two programs for 2007 that you were going to implement, but didn't get implemented.  You note that on page 30 of Exhibit B, tab 2.


Were either of these two programs in the mass-marketing heading?


MR. FARMER:  No.  I believe the programs related to the industrial and demand response.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


So all of the programs you planned to do in 2007, you did do?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And you have added five more.  With regard to the new FTEs, as we say, there are essentially seven new -- 6.7 new FTEs for the mass marketing.  Are these people being brought on board to, I guess, develop the five new programs?


MR. FARMER:  It is a combination of a number of things.  We certainly need additional people to develop the new programs.


We have, through experience, learned that the fulfilment associated with mass market programs is more intensive than we had anticipated, particularly when you consider coupon programs with millions of redemptions and the various other customer programs.  There's a lot of mass market customers, so there is a fair amount of fulfilment that goes with them.


And also we are developing -- most of our programs that are developed under the LDC directive reside within this particular market, and there is a fair amount of work involved in working with the LDCs and getting a framework that will be productive for both.


MR. MILLAR:  So if I have heard you correctly, some of the seven will be doing the new programs, but some of them are allocated to the existing programs?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.  As experience has grown, we've seen how much work the mass market programs are, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Just to follow up on that a little bit, I am not sure I understand and you can help me, I'm sure.


Just because there is larger take-up for a program, does that actually entail more work for the OPA?  For example, if you give out more rebates, does that actually take more staff time?


MR. FARMER:  There may be a small variable portion of that, as you look at the number of submissions that come in from the counterparties who are managing those.  


The reality is that it was more related to our experience of what it takes to support mass market programs, and so part of 2007 was to teach us that it is more intensive than we had anticipated when we put together our 2007 budget.


MR. MILLAR:  Does it ever work the other way?  I guess some of the work for the initial seven programs would have been the development phase, which presumably is over now, or at least partially over.  Does some of that FTE time get freed up as programs maybe -- I don't want to say they run themselves, but I assume they get a little bit easier to run over the years?


MR. FARMER:  I think it is reasonable to assume that over time you will have that efficiency start to present itself, as you move into more of a redesigning and re-profiling.


You don't need the sheer weight of design resources that you have.  What I would suggest is that the other side of it now ramps up as you try to make the programs successful in markets, so your delivery resource is perhaps offset.  I don't have a future estimate at this time of how this will work.


MR. MILLAR:  With regard to the seven new FTEs and the five new programs, we have already gone over the fact that some of the new FTEs are for the new programs.


Are you able to give an approximate figure as to how many of the 6.7 new FTEs are working on the five new programs?


MR. FARMER:  I can't with precision.  I believe it is the majority.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If we look at the old programs, I have gone to the trouble of adding up the net megawatt savings from the initial seven programs that you have listed here.  I don't have the figures for the eight in front of me, but I get, for -- the old seven programs, I get a target of 61.1 megawatts; is that right?


MR. FARMER:  If you could help me with where you're --


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  I have just taken table 3 and I've added up the net megawatts for programs 1 through 7, and I got 61.1 megawatts.  Take that subject to check?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And the new programs, I get a total of 14.1 megawatts?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So by my math, which is seldom correct, so you might want to take it subject to check, or, if you have a calculator, you can even check it, but 14 is about 23 percent of 61, something in that -- 


MR. FARMER:  In that order.


MR. MILLAR:  -- neighbourhood?  So for the new FTEs, it seems -- are we getting into an area of diminishing returns for the new programs?  It seems the five new programs taking the majority of seven FTEs are producing only about a quarter of what the initial seven programs are producing?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I don't think, though, that we're approaching diminishing returns.  This is probably more reflective of programs that have multiple years, of experience in-market or more successful than the initial programs.  Firstly, they don't all start on January the 1st, so you don't get a full year of results.  Secondly, it takes time for them to be successful in-market.

MR. MILLAR:  So you would expect, assuming these programs continue, say, into 2009, that the figures might be higher in future years?

MR. FARMER:  We would certainly expect so, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Just continuing with some of my adventures in math, if I add up the entire amount from the old programs and the new programs, I get a total -- my math gives me 75.2 megawatts in total savings, though I note, in fact, on table 1, you say 75.8.  It may be a rounding issue or something like that, but it is approximately 75 megawatts?

MR. FARMER:  I believe so, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any explanation?  I did the math on this twice, and I got 75.2 megawatts.  You show 75.8 on table 1.  Obviously, the difference isn't material.  Do you have any idea why you wouldn't get exactly the same number?

MR. FARMER:  No.  My only explanation might be that the tables have more significant digits behind them in the Excel spreadsheet that supports it.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.  So let's call it 75.

Since the total megawatts reduction target is about 287 megawatts, that's what we discussed before.  Again, my math gives you about 26 percent of the total.  The 26 percent of the total megawatt demand reduction comes from the mass market programs.  Is that about right?

MR. FARMER:  That's about right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, in terms of staff, you have 14 of the total staff numbers, if I take -- you have got 14 for mass markets.  And I know you have got a total of 41.7 FTEs.  But if I back out marketing and development, there's 32 staff, were actually working in the three program areas; is that right?  I am just taking that from EDA No. 4.

MR. FARMER:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So about 43 percent of your employees working on programs are working on mass marketing.  That is just eleven of 32?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to move on to commercial and institutional programs.  There, the increase is much smaller.  You had 8.9 FTEs budgeted for 2007, and that goes up to 11 for 2008?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at table 4, which starts on page 7 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, I see there are seven carryover programs from 2007 and you're adding two more.

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  In a response to a previous question, did you tell me that the two programs that you had initially budgeted for 2007 and discontinued were from the commercial and institutional?  Or were those the industrial?

MR. FARMER:  Sorry, I may have misinterpreted when you said "discontinued".  I thought you had said "not delivered", because we had some delays.  If you can give me the reference, I could correct that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I am skipping around a little bit, but on page 30 of 31, at the very first sentence it says:
"In 2007 the OPA planned to launch 19 -–"
But in the end, if you go to the next sentence, it says you were forecasting actually to get 17?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Those other two, were those industrial or were those commercial?  Or do you know?

MR. FARMER:  I am afraid I don't recall.  Again, though, it is important that they weren't discontinued.  They weren't delivered in the timeframe we had anticipated.  They're still in development.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess what I was getting at, if those are some of the new programs for 2008 --

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So they are?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, similar question to the one I had on mass marketing.  Of the two new FTEs you're bringing in, for commercial and institutional, are they being brought in to run these two new programs?

MR. FARMER:  No.  It's probably fair to say that one is, and the other is, my understanding is support for the administration of these programs, and by that it is things such as the engineering support that we're finding out we need to provide to our channel partners in delivering the commercial programs, and also the resources in the market to try and link customers through the various associations who may not be delivering programs.  So there is more of a delivery increase, I would suggest to you, in the commercial market.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So probably one for the new programs and one to help support the existing programs?

MR. FARMER:  That would be fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, if I add up the megawatt reductions from the carryover programs, I get 105.7 megawatts.  Does that look right to you?

MR. FARMER:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the two new programs aim for a reduction of 8 megawatts?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to move on to the industrial market programs.

Again, looking at EDA No. 4, here on the chart you have, I see it is called "demand response and industrial".  Does that correspond exactly with -- your prefiled evidence calls it "industrial market programs".  Are we talking about the same things there?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So for 2007, you had 4.4 FTEs budgeted, and for 2008 you have seven budgeted; is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In 2008 -– again, if I look at table 5, this is on page 9 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1 -- I see that you planned to run five programs in 2008, of which four are carryovers from 2007.

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  Actually, we have, since we put this table together, we did not bring demand response 2 and demand response 3 into the market by the end of the year.  We had anticipated that they would be.  They are now both in the market.  And demand response 4, which is a placeholder here, as we gain experience with demand response, we see the need possibly for one more demand response program is deferred to 2009, since we need to give time for the demand response programs to run in order to fully assess what another program might look like, if necessary at all.

MR. MILLAR:  So is it the case that now, for 2008, you are just looking at four programs?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I take it that the -- you have 2.6 new FTEs.  I take it that -– well, maybe I shouldn't take it.

Are they working on the new program that is not going to be in place for 2008?

MR. FARMER:  No.  Again, with industrial, we didn't introduce our demand response 2 and 3 programs in time.  Although 3 was in the market, it wasn't available for subscription, so the market could be working on it.

The industrial program was also slated to be introduced in 2007, and it did not get introduced in time.  So that is now approved at the board, the OPA board of directors, and currently in procurement for results.

The increase in the industrial and demand response markets is really related to the support, our experience in looking at the support required to run demand response programs, which are quite intensive.  And so it is more an assessment of supporting those programs than introducing new programs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So all of the total of seven FTEs you have allocated to demand response and industrial, they will be working on programs 1 through 4 on table five?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to follow up on that, I note you have 8 megawatts shown under item 5, a predicted reduction of 8 megawatts.  I assume that is off the table now?

MR. FARMER:  Well, it is.  However, early returns are that our demand response 3 program may well make up that gap.

MR. MILLAR:  So the numbers from the first four may be a bit higher to offset the loss of the 8 megawatts on program number five?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So when I added up all of the numbers -- I don't mean to be repetitive here -- I got a 98 megawatt reduction target.  Is that still more or less the target you have set?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could take you back to page 4, table 2, this is of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1.

I have taken you through the conservation programs.  I wanted to ask a couple of questions about some of these other areas, because I didn't see a lot of text devoted to them in the prefiled.  


If we look at portfolio planning, I see in 2007 this job title didn't exist, and now we have two FTEs.  Can you tell me what that is, exactly?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  In going into the 2008 portfolio, what we have realized is that we need more resources focussed on two areas.  One is reporting the results of existing programs, so managing the tracking of program results, the interpretation of what they mean and feeding that back in to the program people and liaising with our power system planning group.


The second one is managing the portfolio forward.  So if you look at our portfolio of programs, it is designed to deliver a number of megawatts or more at a certain cost.  As the programs are actually designed, there may be differences.  As the results are actually received, through good EM&V, you may find the savings are different to what you had originally anticipated, and so that role will be managing the portfolio and looking at the impacts on the portfolio of the development so that we know -- have a better idea of where we're going to end up.


MR. MILLAR:  I take it you had people doing something like this previously at least as part of their other job descriptions?  Someone was looking at the entire portfolio, I assume?


MR. FARMER:  We did.  It was more in a single role as part of other areas.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The next thing I see is conservation support.  It goes from a fairly healthy increase from one FTE in 2007 to 5.2 in 2008.


Can you tell me what that is?  What is conservation support?


MR. FARMER:  Conservation support, as I understand it, is the bodies that are in other groups.  So that may be legal or communications that support conservation, but they're not dedicated.  So they're allocations of departments.


MR. MILLAR:  What happened between 2007 and 2008 that required a five-fold increase in conservation support?


MR. FARMER:  It was the increase in the number of programs, and we had not anticipated the amount of support, particularly from legal, that it would take to procure these programs.


MR. MILLAR:  What type of work is legal doing on these?


MR. FARMER:  Many of our procurements, once the program is designed, we would have an RFP or a standard offer or a sole source, depending on the situation, and there is a contractual negotiation that needs to occur.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I see.


Moving down the list to evaluation, measurement and verification, here you have obviously had a very large increase, one FTE in 2007 to nine in 2008, so a full nine-fold increase.


You discussed this a little bit before, but could I ask you to explain why such a large increase was necessary?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  We really feel that EM&V is an absolutely critical activity at the OPA.


We have been, as part of contracts we have been letting out, letting out some EM&V into the external program managers.  However, we have decided that in order to give full credit to EM&V and to truly understand what is happening so as to inform programming and have the best programs possible, but also to inform power system planning as to how the conservation resource is emerging, then we have allocated a considerable amount of resource to EM&V.


MR. MILLAR:  I know, for example - and this is just an example - your programs all assume a 30 percent free-ridership rate.  Will they be looking at things like that?


MR. FARMER:  Absolutely.  The 30 percent free-ridership rate was a standard rate that we used, and we fully anticipate that as better information becomes available, we would apply the better rates, but it is through EM&V that that information will been available.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to move to my last section of questions.  I gave to your counsel, and I believe he gave to you, some excerpts from the Arnott report.  Maybe I will provide them to the panel, and we have extra copies here.  Unless there are any objections, I will call it Exhibit K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  EXCERPTS FROM THE ARNOTT REPORT.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have that?


MR. FARMER:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  I will wait until the...


[Copies of report handed out to intervenors.]


MR. MILLAR:  Have you seen this report before?


MR. FARMER:  I have.


MR. MILLAR:  And you are generally familiar with it?


MR. FARMER:  I am.


MR. MILLAR:  All I have reproduced -- obviously, I didn't reproduce the entire report, but I have just reproduced what is called the consolidated recommendations, which start on page 43 of the report.  


I am really only going to be looking at recommendation 1 and number 2.  I guess you can see from this that the Arnott report recommends that the OPA's CDM functions be transferred to the MOE; is that right?


MR. FARMER:  I believe that is what it says.


MR. MILLAR:  It doesn't set a time schedule on that, but that is the recommendation.


It also states that sometime after -- presumably after the IPSP review, that the balance of the OPA's functions be combined with the IESO into a combined agency; is that right?


MR. FARMER:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  In your ramp-up to meet your CDM requirements and to meet the directives, you have obviously hired or -- have hired and planned to hire a lot of CDM staff.


Were you in any way informed by the Arnott report?  Was that an input into your decision-making as to how you would go about hiring and how many people you would hire for CDM?


MR. FARMER:  No.  No, it wasn't.


We had, after the report came out, an internal briefing with our CEO, who informed us, through discussions with the Ministry and apparently a letter that the Minister had sent to the heads of the agency, that there was no anticipation of making any changes in the electricity sector within 18 months.


The second part, what we decided is that even should the recommendation be adopted to fold the conservation function into some other entity, whether it be the Ministry or another group, the work will still have to be done and that the resources will still have to be there to do it.


MR. MILLAR:  Looking at that last point, are there any provisions in there -- your employees' contracts that would allow for a transfer to the MOE, for example?


MR. FARMER:  I am not familiar with the nature of the contracts.  However, I don't have one in mine.


MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me?


MR. FARMER:  I don't have one in mine.


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't know if --


MR. FARMER:  I don't know.  Let me say I have done some hiring and I haven't put that provision in any of the offers that I have made.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I take it -- I am no expert in employment law, and you may know more than I do, but I don't think you are an employment lawyer.  I take it that 

-- if you don't know the answer to this, that's fine.  


I take it that you can't simply -- if the OPA, for example, ceases to exist, let's say, and all of the conservation functions go to the MOE, I take it that you can't just automatically transfer employees from the OPA to the MOE unless the contract allows for that.  You might be able to work something out with those people, but you wouldn't be entitled to do that as a right?


MR. FARMER:  I believe -- I am not an employment lawyer, so I stress this as an uninformed opinion.  But I believe there would be a fairly substantial human resources effort to manage such a transition.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Did you give any thought to hiring people on a contract basis instead of as full employees?


MR. FARMER:  We do have contract employees, temporary employees, if you will, within those number of FTEs that you see.


We have not done it on a basis of a pending shutdown of the OPA, if you will.  Our business planning assumption is the OPA will continue to exist.  The work does need to be done.


What we do is, when we see roles that are by definition temporary in nature, they're coming in to fulfil something that we anticipate doing beyond a year, we do use temporary employment contracts.


MR. MILLAR:  As a result of the Arnott report, have you considered contracting out more work, or has that had any impact?


MR. FARMER:  No.  I would say it has had no impact.  We do contract out a significant amount of work.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

Questions from the Board:


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Farmer, I am going to follow up on Mr. Millar's question, but for a somewhat different reason.


You, in response to a question from Mr. Buonaguro, said that - I think I am quoting - that you, and I assume the OPA, are not currently in a position to foresee future head count.


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Regardless of where the OPA and the conservation activities reside, it appears that you are not clear on what your required head count is for the future; is that true?


MR. FARMER:  That is true.  I was indicating that we're not sure, for example, as to whether we would need 70 or 75 or 50 employees to continue to deliver our conservation mandate at this time.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Regarding the head-count requirements that you have put forward in your application for 2008, how many of those people have you hired at the OPA?


MR. FARMER:  How many of those?


MS. NOWINA:  How many of those people have been hired?  Are you up to four full complement?


MR. FARMER:  No, we certainly are not.  I don't have the current vacancy numbers, but if I were to guess, in conservation we have somewhat more than our 2007 forecast.  So we said 43 by the end of 2007.  I think we're somewhere around 50, to help as much as I can, but we still have a fair number to hire.


MS. NOWINA:  So that still leaves --


MR. FARMER:  About 16.


MS. NOWINA:  -- another 15, 16 people to hire?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  You said that your consideration of hiring people into contract positions as opposed to regular employee positions was based on the nature of the work.


Given what you said both in your comments here and in, I believe, in an interrogatory response on the difficulty of foreseeing future head count, have you considered that perhaps most of those employees should come in on a contract basis?


MR. FARMER:  We have not, for -- we use the contract  -- firstly, we work on the planning assumption that the OPA continues to exist.


We have no signals since the report came out, but our internal briefing was clear is that there are no changes expected in the foreseeable future, and, frankly, to attract skilled and qualified people to do be able to do the core functions of conservation is more difficult if you are offering a number of contracts.  It is easier to attract them as full-time permanent employees in a number of situations.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Mr. Vlahos, do you have questions?


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Farmer, could you perhaps provide an undertaking to the Board as to how many of the proposed additional FTEs for 2008 have already been hired up to this point?


MR. FARMER:  Certainly I can, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  Those are all of my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that an undertaking number?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I think we are at J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  PROVIDE NUMBER OF PROPOSED ADDITIONAL FTES FOR 2008 HAVE ALREADY BEEN HIRED.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry.  I am looking at table 4 of Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 5 of 12, and it is April 4, and perhaps that information could be set out in that configuration.


MR. FARMER:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Re-examination by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  These all go back to the questions that Mr. Poch was asking, panel, so we have to think back to some of the earlier cross-examination.


First of all, Mr. Poch had a number of questions about areas where there are local supply constraints.  The implication of the questions -- or the questions had to do with how the OPA might be doing things differently, such as targeted programs.


Presumably, this means increased spending or at least an additional effort.  I wondered if you could comment on the extent to which any increased spending or additional effort would really add anything to what's happening now.


MR. FARMER:  Well, we don't actually currently know, and I think the key to a local area issue is to remember that with 26 programs running provincially that are eligible to be taken up in the local area, all of the market is, in essence, covered.


So what we've done is looked to ways that we can provide little additional emphasis in those by setting some higher targets, so we have a new direct install program for small commercial.  You can establish and partnership with the delivery agent, which in this case is a LDC, a higher target for what is, in essence, a 100 percent program, and get higher levels of activity, we hope, in that market.  


It is not proven yet we can actually get that higher level.  We are not sure what the ability of the market to absorb that is.  You can do the same thing as -- a single family low income, for example, rolls out, you can look to achieve higher results in those markets, but you are not sure.


Another area, as I mentioned, is we have certainly invited LDCs to propose custom programs, and we have basically said we will give preference in program consideration to the local reliability.  We certainly don't turn any programs away, but we certainly will get to the local ones much more quickly in an attempt to engage LDCs as partners in their local reliability efforts, as well.


The last one is another option would be to increase the marketing or incentive level that you offer through your regular programs.  I would stress that we actually have done that in Toronto, and we have a higher incentive for program take-up through a couple of our delivery agents in Toronto than we do in other areas.  


We are assessing whether that approach actually does yield greater savings than sticking with the incentives that were designed.  And when you design incentives, you look at the task in front of the customer and pick an incentive level that gets them to act.  So would a higher incentive would get more of them to act is still for us to be determined.


MR. CASS:  So aside from these things that you already have in place or under consideration, is there anything that you think would add meaningfully to what's being done?


MR. FARMER:  At this time, we know of nothing.  We are certainly -- we have a role dedicated to looking at local reliability.  It was the channel development role.  And over time, we will be in a better position to say that we should offer up a different solution for those markets.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Then I just wanted to move on to the questions that were asked about avoided costs.


As I understood it, Mr. Poch put together several different concepts here.  One was use of the OEB's avoided costs as opposed to what is in the IPSP.  Another one was consideration of specific avoided costs for the constrained areas.  He also talked about considering losses at peak times, such as distribution losses.


Now, within the context of the fees case, even if you were to consider all of these things that Mr. Poch talked about, what difference would it make for the OPA's planned activities in 2008?


MR. FARMER:  There would be no difference in the OPA's planned activities for 2008 were we to adopt a higher set of avoided costs.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, you had some discussion with Mr. Poch about targets in the directives as opposed to the OPA's goals.


He was essentially suggesting that you should perhaps aim higher.  And your repeated response, Mr. Farmer, was that nothing limits the performance of your programs to a particular goal.  Can you explain what you meant by that?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  The program design, in establishing -- and certainly one of the refreshing things of being at the OPA as opposed to previous work experiences is nothing limits in the form of budget on the charges side what you achieve.  So when you lay out a program design that you believe will achieve a result, and you estimate what that result is, you don't have to stop the program when you start to approach that result.  You continue to charge the charges budget, because the result is coming in in a cost-effective way.  


So, you know, if you had said you would get 50 megawatts from a certain program over three years, you know, you can do 100 or 150, if that is what the market will bear and if it is proving out to be a real resource.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  I just wanted to wrap up with a general question about the areas that Mr. Poch pursued.


Again, the implication was that the OPA might be doing things differently in a number of different areas, such as the approach to local supply issues, considering energy savings as opposed to megawatts, long-term planning, fuel switching.


Was there anything further that you wanted to add in any of these areas about the implications of taking a different approach from what the OPA is already doing?  There may not have been.  I just wanted to be sure that you had a chance to provide whatever comments would be relevant to these suggestions.


MR. FARMER:  I have nothing to add.  We are pursuing the long-term planning, as we discussed, and energy is a part of our programs, and it is a matter of to what extent it should be with the nature of the directives, but I believe our fees is the right submission to achieve the mandate that we have.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Prasad, was there anything further that you wanted to add?


MR. PRASAD:  No, that's fine.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Thank you to the witness panel.  That finishes the oral portion of the hearing.  To reiterate, we expect argument from intervenors and Board Staff by end of day Thursday, April 17th, and OPA's reply end of day Thursday, April 24th.


Thank you, everyone.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:44 p.m.
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